
Please ask for Democratic Services: Telephone 01775 764626 
e-mail: demservices@sholland.gov.uk

AGENDA

Committee - PLANNING COMMITTEE

Date & Time - Wednesday, 4 September 2019 at 6.30 pm

Venue - Council Chamber, Council Offices, Priory Road, 
Spalding

Membership of the Planning Committee:

Councillors: B Alcock, J Avery (Vice-Chairman), C J T H Brewis, F Biggadike, 
H J W Bingham, P E Coupland, H Drury, R Gambba-Jones (Chairman), R Grocock, 
C J Lawton, J L Reynolds, G R D Rudkin, M D Seymour, A C Tennant and J Tyrrell

Substitute Members of the Planning Committee

Any member may sit on the pool of substitutes for the Planning Committee provided they 
receive training every 12 months as approved by the Council (minute 290(c)/05 refers). 
Substitutions are for individual meetings only. 
Quorum: 5

Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn their mobile telephones to 

silent mode

Democratic Services
Council Offices, Priory Road
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE

Date:   23 August 2019



A G E N D A

1. Apologies for absence. 

2. Minutes 
To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 24 July 
2019   (copy enclosed).  

(Pages 
5 - 10)

3. Declaration of Interests. 
(Where a Councillor has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest the Councillor 
must declare the interest to the meeting and leave the room without 
participating in any discussion or making a statement on the item, 
except where a Councillor is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of 
dispensation.)

4. Questions asked under the Council's Constitution (Standing Orders). 

5. H06-0233-19 
Full application for change of use of land (part retrospective) to provide 
five additional gypsy/traveller pitches with one day room per pitch and 
existing stables converted to dayrooms.  Also, erection of one new store 
and retention of sheds for pitch 1, with construction of internal road to 
facilitate separate ingress and egress to and from the site, including 
hardstanding at Green Acres Park, Ropers Gate, Gedney. (Report of the 
Development Manager enclosed)

(Pages 
11 - 24)

6. H16-0930-18 
Full application for change of use to B8 at 344 Bourne Road, Pode Hole, 
Spalding (Report of the Development Manager enclosed)

(Pages 
25 - 34)

7. H16-1267-18
Full application for commercial development comprising a B1 office 
building of 1,026 sq. m, 8 small business units of 240 sq. m in B1 and/or 
B8 use, and enabling residential development of 43 houses comprising 
12 x 2-bed, 29 x 3-bed and 2 x 4-bed, landscaping, access routes, car 
parking and associated infrastructure at Land within/adjacent: Lincs 
Gateway Business Park, and south: Fen End Lane, Spalding (Report of 
the Development Manager enclosed)

(Pages 
35 - 50)

8. H11-0936-18 
Outline application for residential development – 6 affordable housing 
units at St James Road, Long Sutton, Spalding (Report of the 
Development Manager enclosed)

(Pages 
51 - 64)

9. H02-0075-19 
Sec 73 modification of residential development – erection of up to 22 
dwellings – approved under H02-0405-17. Removal of Condition 4 
relating to affordable housing at Former South View Primary School, 
Albion Street, Crowland. (Report of the Development Manager 
enclosed)

(Pages 
65 - 72)



10. H13-0644-19 
S73A continuation of Barn conversion – approved under H13-0198-16 – 
Modification of Conditions 2,5 and 9, relating to amendments to 
previously approved plans, bricks and tiles, and window frames, glazing 
bars and external door frames at Adams Barn Hogs Gate Moulton 
(Report of the Development Manager enclosed)

(Pages 
73 - 82)

11. H02-0493-19 
Full application for construction of two further phases of industrial 
building for sub-division into small units at Pinnacle Close, Crease 
Drove, Crowland (Report of the Development Manager enclosed)

(Pages 
83 - 90)

12. H04-0641-19 
Full application for renovation and alteration to retail/residential 
premises at 15-16 Market Place, Donington, Spalding (Report of the 
Development Manager enclosed)

(Pages 
91 - 96)

13. Planning Appeals 
To provide an update on recent Appeal Decisions (Report of the 
Development Manager enclosed)

(Pages 
97 - 98)

14. Planning Updates 

15. Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent. - 

Note: No other business is permitted unless by reason of special 
circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the 
Chairman is of the opinion that the item(s) should be 
considered as a matter of urgency.  



This page is intentionally left blank



- 5 -

Minutes of a meeting of the PLANNING COMMITTEE held in the Council Chamber, 
Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, on Wednesday, 24 July 2019 at 6.30 pm.

PRESENT

R Gambba-Jones (Chairman)
J Avery (Vice-Chairman)

B Alcock
A C Beal
C J T H Brewis
F Biggadike
H J W Bingham

P E Coupland
H Drury
R Grocock
C J Lawton
G R D Rudkin

M D Seymour
A C Tennant
J Tyrrell

In Attendance:  The Principal Planning Officer, the Development Manager, the 
Planning and Building Control Manager, the Senior Planning Lawyer, the Democratic 
Services Officer and the Lead Democratic Services Officer.

10. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE. 

The Senior Planning Lawyer reported that notification had been received of the 
following substitution for this meeting only:

 Councillor A C Beal was replacing Councillor J L Reynolds (Councillor Reynolds 
was in attendance as a ward member for agenda item 6 so did not have voting 
rights).  

11. MINUTES 

Consideration was given to the minutes of the meeting of the Planning Committee 
held on 26 June 2019.

AGREED:

That the minutes be signed as a correct record.

12. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS. 

There were no declarations of interest.

13. QUESTIONS ASKED UNDER THE COUNCIL'S CONSTITUTION (STANDING 
ORDERS). 

There were none.

Page 5

Agenda Item 2.



- 6 -

PLANNING COMMITTEE - 24 July 2019

14. H09-0276-19 

Planning No. and Applicant Proposal
H09-0276-19  Ashwood Homes Full Application for the erection of 84 

dwellings with associated garaging, 
roads and sewers at Land rear of Fen 
Road Holbeach Spalding

Consideration was given to the report of the Development Manager upon which the 
above application was to be determined, including his recommendations, copies of 
which had previously been circulated to all members.

Update from Principle Planning Officer:

Since the preparation of the report the following updates were reported:

 The application had been revised from 84 dwellings to 83 dwellings.
 Plans had been submitted to ensure that as far as possible, on plot parking was 

achievable for all properties on the proposal.
 As a result of the reduction by 1 dwelling, the education contribution at section 6.7 

of report was reduced to £376,069.  Recalculations for the NHS contributions 
were still awaited. The Officer stated that this would normally be expected to be 
reduced by £660, although this had not yet been confirmed.

 Further representations received from Councillor Biggadike relating to fear of 
flooding from sewer system and the input into the application by Anglian Water.

 3 additional objections had been received to the revised plans, reiterating 
objections to the principle of the development of the land, the loss of views over 
the site and sewerage.

Members debated the matter and fully explored the details of the application in light 
of prevailing policies and guidance. The debate was not repeated here as Planning 
Committee meetings were webcast and could be viewed in full at 
www.sholland.gov.uk for a limited period of time following which the recording could 
be made available by request, in line with the Democratic Services Privacy Notice.

AGREED:

That planning permission be granted, subject to those conditions listed at Section 9.0 
of this report and the completion of a Section 106 agreement to secure the provision 
of affordable housing and health and education financial contributions.

(Moved by Councillor Grocock, Seconded by Councillor Tyrrell)

Oral representations were received in respect of the above application in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Objector:  Mr Howard Baxter (On behalf of Mr Robert Gordon – resident)

Page 6

http://www.sholland.gov.uk/


- 7 -

PLANNING COMMITTEE - 24 July 2019

15. H06-0233-19 

Planning No. and Applicant Proposal
H06-0233-19  Ms C Bushby Full Application for change of use of 

land (part retrospective) to provide five 
additional gypsy/traveller pitches with 
one day room per pitch and existing 
stables converted to dayrooms.  Also, 
erection of one new store and 
retention of sheds for pitch 1, with 
construction of internal road to 
facilitate separate ingress and egress 
to and from the site, including 
hardstanding at Green Acres Park, 
Ropers Gate, Gedney.

Consideration was given to the report of the Development Manager upon which the 
above application was to be determined, including his recommendations, copies of 
which had previously been circulated to all members.

Members debated the matter and fully explored the details of the application in light 
of prevailing policies and guidance. The debate was not repeated here as Planning 
Committee meetings were webcast and could be viewed in full at 
www.sholland.gov.uk for a limited period of time following which the recording could 
be made available by request, in line with the Democratic Services Privacy Notice.

Members discussed and agreed that there were a number of errors in the officer’s 
report which caused some confusion to their reading of the application.  

AGREED:

That the application be deferred to clarify the position on the following material 
matters:

1. Confirmation of arrangements regarding sewage collection. 

2. Confirmation of vehicle access for the quality of the road standard.

3. Arrangements for management of refuse collection.

4. Responses from Anglian Water, South Holland Internal Drainage Board and 
the County Fire Office to be sought, as it was stated in the report that no 
response had been received.

5. Clearer wording of some of the conditions discussed verbally.

6. Issues relating to the site being in Flood Zone 3, and Sequential and 
Exception tests.

Page 7

http://www.sholland.gov.uk/


- 8 -

PLANNING COMMITTEE - 24 July 2019

7. The identifiable need for this development within the family circle of the 
occupant of the existing site.

8. Clarification regarding the 28 day notice period for visiting touring caravans, to 
include confirmation of the limit of the amount of touring caravans per pitch at 
any one time - how would this be monitored to ensure that visitors did not 
leave and return on the following calendar day after expiry. 

9. Definition of a “reasonable travelling distance” for residents in respect of 
7.10(i) of the report

10.The impact of the development on the character and setting of the nearby 
listed building.

(Moved by Councillor Gambba-Jones, Seconded by Councillor Brewis)

Oral representations were received in respect of the above application in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Supporter: Carrie-Ann Bushby (Applicant)

At 8.20pm, the Committee took a comfort break, that lasted until 8.30pm

Councillor Reynolds left at 8.20pm

16. H14-0366-19 

Planning No. and Applicant Proposal
H14-0366-19 Steven Layn 
(Holdings) Ltd

Full Application for change of use of 
land to self-storage facility comprising 
150 storage container units (B8 Use), 
access and parking at Land at 
Wardentree Lane & Benner Road, 
Pinchbeck, Spalding

Consideration was given to the report of the Development Manager upon which the 
above application was to be determined, including his recommendations, copies of 
which had previously been circulated to all members.

Members debated the matter and fully explored the details of the application in light 
of prevailing policies and guidance. The debate was not repeated here as Planning 
Committee meetings were webcast and could be viewed in full at 
www.sholland.gov.uk for a limited period of time following which the recording could 
be made available by request, in line with the Democratic Services Privacy Notice.

Page 8

http://www.sholland.gov.uk/


- 9 -

PLANNING COMMITTEE - 24 July 2019

AGREED:

That the application be refused permission, subject to the reason listed at Section 9.0 
of the report

(Moved by Councillor  Avery, Seconded by Councillor Drury )

Councillor Biggadike requested that the minutes noted his abstinence from the vote

Oral representations were received in respect of the above application in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Supporter:  Emily Weston (Agent) 

17. H16-0598-19 

Planning No. and Applicant Proposal

H16-0598-19 Mrs Tracey Bradley Full Application for rear single-storey extension to create 
accessible bedroom and wetroom at 9 Rowan Avenue, 
Spalding

Consideration was given to the report of the Development Manager upon which the 
above application was to be determined, including his recommendations, copies of 
which had previously been circulated to all members.
Members debated the matter and fully explored the details of the application in light 
of prevailing policies and guidance. The debate was not repeated here as Planning 
Committee meetings were webcast and could be viewed in full at 
www.sholland.gov.uk for a limited period of time following which the recording could 
be made available by request, in line with the Democratic Services Privacy Notice.

AGREED:

That planning permission be granted, subject to those conditions listed at Section 9.0 
of this report

(Moved by Councillor Avery, Seconded by Councillor Drury )

18. H18-0599-19 

Planning No. and Applicant Proposal

H18-0599-19 Ms Emma Fenwick-
French 

Full Application for Rear single-storey flat roofed 
extension at 72 Princes Street, Sutton Bridge, Spalding

Consideration was given to the report of the Development Manager upon which the 
above application was to be determined, including his recommendations, copies of 
which had previously been circulated to all members.

Page 9

http://www.sholland.gov.uk/


- 10 -

PLANNING COMMITTEE - 24 July 2019

Members debated the matter and fully explored the details of the application in light 
of prevailing policies and guidance. The debate was not repeated here as Planning 
Committee meetings were webcast and could be viewed in full at 
www.sholland.gov.uk for a limited period of time following which the recording could 
be made available by request, in line with the Democratic Services Privacy Notice.

AGREED:

That planning permission be granted, subject to those conditions listed at Section 9.0 
of this report

(Moved by Councillor Brewis, Seconded by Councillor Tyrrell)

19. PLANNING APPEALS 

Councillors considered the report of the Development Manager which provided an 
update on recent appeal decisions.

DECISION:

That the report be noted.

20. PLANNING UPDATES. 

There were none.

21. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT. 

There were none.

(The meeting ended at 8.55 pm)

(End of minutes)

Page 10

http://www.sholland.gov.uk/


You can view this application on the Council's web site at
http://planning.sholland.gov.uk/OcellaWeb/planningDetails?reference=H06-0233-19

SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Development Manager

To: Planning Committee - 04 September 2019

(Author: Polly Harris-Gorf -  Principal Planning Officer)

Purpose: To consider Planning Application H06-0233-19

Application Number: H06-0233-19 DDate Received: 01 March 2019

Application Type: FULL

Description: Change of use of land (part retrospective) to provide five additional gypsy/traveller
pitches with one day room per pitch and existing stables converted to dayrooms.
Also, erection of one new store and retention of sheds for pitch 1, with construction of
internal road to facilitate separate ingress and egress to and from the site, including
hardstanding

Location: GREEN ACRES PARK ROPERS GATE GEDNEY

Applicant: Ms C Bushby AAgent: Parkin Planning Services

Ward: Gedney WWard Councillors: Cllr J L Reynolds

1.0 REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

1.1 At the Planning Committee meeting on 24 July this application was deferred in order that further
information be provided to assist in the consideration of the application.

1.2 The information sought relates to sewerage arrangements, vehicle access and the quality of the
access road, arrangements for management of refuse collection, issues relating to the site
being in Flood Zone 3, and Sequential and Exception tests, identifiable need for this
development and definition of a "reasonable travelling distance" for residents and sustainability
and the impact of the development on the character and setting of the nearby listed building.

1.3 The above are the matters for Member consideration and no other issues can now be raised.

1.4 In addition the formal consultation responses are also set out below and the planning conditions
have been clarified, as per the Members' requests.

2.0 PROPOSAL

2.1 This Full planning application proposes the change of use of paddock land to provide 5
additional gypsy/traveller pitches, extending the existing, established gypsy/traveller site, which
currently accommodates three traveller pitches, with paddock to the rear.

2.2 Each proposed pitch would consist of sufficient land to accommodate two mobile homes (static
caravans), space for 2 touring caravans, a day room which is used to house facilities such as
washing machines, and provide washing facilities, garden space and parking, together with aPage 11

Agenda Item 5.



domestic size storage shed.

2.3 In addition, a revised and upgraded road is proposed. The road is to be constructed in
accordance with the LCC Highway requirements, and will remain as a private access and road.

2.4 The application is supported by a Design and Access Statement, Flood Risk Assessment,
including a sequential test consideration, and a Flood Evacuation Plan. A letter of support from
an adjoining neighbour was included at submission and this is discussed below.

2.5 Since submission the application has been revised to reduce the number of touring caravans to
be kept on the site.

33.0 SITE DESCRIPTION

3.1 The application site is outside of defined settlement limits and is, therefore, designated as being
located in the open countryside. Vehicular access is gained to the site from Ropers Gate.

3.2 The land is bounded to the south by a field drain. The site and the surrounding land is located
within Flood Zone 3.

3.3 Hallgate Cottage, which is a detached dwelling in substantial gardens, stands to the west of the
site.

3.4 Currently the land accommodates three traveller pitches, each with room for one or two
motorhomes and touring caravans, and the plots are gravelled. There is also a partially built day
room and several stables on the wider site. The current use of the site is controlled by
conditions appended to previous decisions and not more than 4 touring caravans and 4 mobile
homes can be sited on the land at any one time, and no storage or sales of materials,
machinery, vehicles, waste or other commercial uses or processes, can take place on the site.
A maximum of 2 additional touring caravans may be sited on the land for no more than 28 days
in any one calendar year.

3.5 In addition occupation of the development is limited to a person or persons who meet the
definition of a gypsy or traveller as defined by national guidance and any resident dependants.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES

4.1 The Development Plan

If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made
under the Planning Acts, Section 38 (6) to the Town and Country Planning Act as amended by
the 2004 Act states that the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise.

4.2 South East Lincolnshire Local Plan, March 2019

4.3 Policy 1 Spatial Strategy
Policy 2 Development Management
Policy 3 Design of New Development
Policy 4 Approach to Flood Risk
Policy 11 Distribution of New Housing
Policy 17 Providing a Mix of Housing
Policy 19 Rural Exception Sites
Policy 20 Accomm. for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople
Policy 28 The Natural Environment
Policy 36 Vehicle and Cycle Parking
APPENDIX 6 Parking Standards

4.4 National Guidance
Page 12



4.5 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), 2019

4.6 2. Achieving sustainable development
4. Decision-making
5. Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
8. Promoting healthy and safe communities
11. Making effective use of land
12. Achieving well-designed places
14. Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
15. Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

4.7 DCLG Planning Policy for Traveller Sites. August 2015.

4.8 Policy A: Using evidence to plan positively and manage development
Policy B: Planning for traveller sites
Policy C: Sites in rural areas and the countryside
Policy D: Rural exception sites
Policy H: Determining planning applications for traveller sites
Policy I: Implementation
Annex 1

4.9 The Housing and Planning Act, 2016

4.10 Communities and Local Government's documents, Designing Gypsy and Traveller Sites Good
Practice Guide and Model Standards 2008 for Caravan Sites in England - Caravan Sites and
Control of Development Act 1960 - Section 5.

4.11 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)

5.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

5.1 H06-0226-18 - Erection of day room  - Approved 22-June 18

5.2 H06-0022-17 - Green Acres Park, Ropers Gate - Erect fencing around the site with associated
landscaping and planting  - Approved 7 March 2017

5.3 H06-0558-15 - Green Acres Park, Ropers Gate  - Change of use of paddock to gypsy/traveller
site comprising of 2 pitches, including alterations to existing accesses and construction of
roadways and hardstanding - Approved 21 October 2015

5.4 H06-0105-15 - Provision of three stable blocks, animal feed/supply store and alterations to
existing accesses - Approved 15 May 2015

5.5 H06-0145-13 - Change of use of paddock to gypsy/traveller site comprising 2 pitches, including
alterations to access and construction of roadway and hardstanding - Approved 6 September
2013.

5.6 H06-1091-13 - Details of landscaping, surface materials and Flood Risk Assessment 'safe
haven' (Conditions 5, 6 and 7 of H06-0145-13) - Approved 4 March 2014.

6.0 REPRESENTATIONS

6.1 Gedney Parish Council

Object to the scheme, as follows:

- Work has commenced on this site without the necessary planning permission being given.
- The new SELLP has adopted the existing site as an effective settlement area regardless of the

Page 13



previous Parish Council objections to all of the planning applications relating to this site.
- This new large scale application exceeds these adopted geographic boundaries by a
considerable margin and would result in development within the open countryside.
- Council consider the Flood Risk Assessment as inadequate given the proposed style of living
accommodation within the site and that there is a danger to life in the event of flooding.
- Council request that this application is brought before the Planning Committee and that the
SELLP background papers and policies are considered.
- Current and long-term safety of the occupants of this site.

6.2 SHDC Environmental Protection Officer

No comments or objections with respect to land contamination

6.3 SHDC Environmental Health Officer

No objection

6.4 SHDC Emergency Planning Officer

No objections to the proposal to provide 5 additional gypsy/traveller pitches at this site provided
that the occupants are made fully aware of the implications of residing on ground that is liable to
flood. As there are already a number of other residents residing on site I feel that this would not
cause any potential issues.

6.5 SHDC Private Sector Housing Service

No objections, however residents/owners need to be reminded that they must apply for a site
licence.

6.6 SHDC Conservation Officer

The Conservation Officer has visited the site and assessed the proposals and potential impact
to the nearest listed building - Hallgate House. He concludes that  that from a conservation
perspective, does  not raise any objections to these proposals. The proposed site sits a decent
distance away from the nearest listed building - Hallgate House (Grade II). Therefore, does not
believe that the proposals would have an impact upon the listed significance of Hallgate House.

6.7 LCC Traveller Liaison Officer

Made comment on the original scheme, that the layout was poorly designed, the access road
not adequate, the pitches large in size, the build quality of the mobile homes, the design and
construction of amenity buildings/day rooms and the provision of Electrical, Water and Drainage
Services.

These points have been considered by the applicant and addressed by the revised plans.

6.8 LCC Highways & SUDS Support

No objection subject to a condition controlling the construction of the accesses from Ropers
Gate.

6.9 Environment Agency

Based on current policy, permanent residential use for caravans on this site would be contrary
to national policy and the Environment Agency standing advice, however, if the Council is
minded to give weight to this use, then the Environment Agency would not pursue an objection
but would strongly recommend mitigation be included, ie, raising of the caravans by 1.0 metre
and ensuring that the site has a robust warning and evacuation plan.

6.10 The Flood Risk Assessment submitted with the application indicates the provision of the raising
of the caravans, and a warning and evacuation plan has been provided.

Page 14



6.11 Anglian Water

No response received at the time of writing.

6.12 South Holland Internal Drainage Board

Comment that the consent of the IDB would be needed for any discharge in to a watercourse.

6.13 County Fire Officer

No response received.

6.14 Police Crime Prevention Design Advisor

No objections.

6.15 Public

Three objections have been received:

- Original applicant and justification is no longer apparent
- Suggest that the site has been occupied by non-travellers not related to the original applicants
- The site is already overdeveloped
- Increase in traffic on a small country lane
- Noise increase
- The horses on site were a part of the need for the original planning permission, they are long
gone
- It is an eyesore in line of sight of a Listed Building
- Site is viewable from nearby dwellings
- Is in an isolated location
- The size of the proposed site is like an estate
- It will also blur the boundary between Gedney and Lutton and is out of keeping with the rest of
the area
- Touring caravans on the site do not look roadworthy
- Not in keeping with the surrounding area
- The proposed scale will devalue the area.

6.16 One letter of support from a nearby neighbour:

- Completely support this improvement to the site
- Site is always clean and tidy and the owners friendly
- Have made many improvements to the site including the planting of trees.

7.0 CONSIDERATIONS

7.1 PPlanning Considerations

7.2 As a result of the planning application being deferred from the last planning committee meeting,
the following matters are addressed below in greater detail - sewerage arrangements, vehicle
access and the quality of the access road, arrangements for management of refuse collection,
issues relating to the site being in Flood Zone 3, and Sequential and Exception tests,
identifiable need for this development and definition of a "reasonable travelling distance" for
residents and sustainability and the impact of the development on the character and setting of
the nearby listed building.

7.3 The above are the matters for Member consideration and no other issues can now be raised.

7.4 Principle of Development

7.5 The principle of this proposal is to be considered in the light of the NPPF, the policies of
Planning Policy for Traveller Sites. August 2015, published by DCLG and the policies of the

Page 15



South Lincolnshire Local Plan.

7.6 In addition detailed matters relating to the impact of the development on neighbouring residents,
visual impact, impact on a Listed Building, highway matters and flooding are to be considered.
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  is read in conjunction with the Government's
Planning Policy for Traveller Sites. The DCLG document, Planning Policy for Traveller Sites,
sets out that in determining planning applications for such sites, applications should be
assessed and determined in accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable
development and the application of specific policies in the National Planning Policy Framework
and this planning policy for traveller sites.

7.7 Policy C of the DCLG document sets out that:

When assessing the suitability of sites in rural or semi-rural settings, Local Planning Authorities
should ensure that the scale of such sites does not dominate the nearest settled community.

Policy H sets criteria for determining planning applications for traveller sites and in particularly
paragraph 24 states:

Local Planning Authorities should consider the following issues amongst other relevant matters
when considering planning applications for traveller sites:

a) the existing level of local provision and need for sites
b) the availability (or lack) of alternative accommodation for the applicants
c) other personal circumstances of the applicant
d) that the locally specific criteria used to guide the allocation of sites in plans or which form the
policy where there is no identified need for pitches/plots should be used to assess applications
that may come forward on unallocated sites
e) that they should determine applications for sites from any travellers and not just those with
local connections

7.8 The Communities and Local Government's Designing Gypsy and Traveller Sites Good Practice
Guide gives as a general guide that an average family pitch must be capable of accommodating
an amenity building, a larger trailer and touring caravan, (or two trailers, drying space for
clothes, a lockable shed (for bicycles, wheelchair storage etc.), parking space for two vehicles
and a small garden area.

7.9 The South Lincolnshire Local Plan (SELLP) acknowledges there is both a 'known' and
'unknown' unmet need for additional Gypsy/Traveller residential accommodation within its
district between the period 2011-36.

7.10 At 3.2.17, the SEELP states Housing needs may also, by exception, be justified in the
Countryside; for example, for Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople accommodation
(Policy 20: Accommodation for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople)...

7.11 Below, Policy 20, Accommodation for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople, is set out
in full.

7.12 The redevelopment or change of use of an Existing Residential Gypsy/Traveller Site or Existing
Residential Travelling Showperson's Site (as identified on the Policies Map) will be permitted
only if an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown that the site is no longer
required to meet the accommodation needs of the Gypsy/Traveller or Travelling Showpersons
communities.

Between 2011 and 2036, evidence suggests that, in South East Lincolnshire, there will be a
need for the provision of:

4 new permanent residential pitches for gypsies and travellers; and
1 new permanent residential plot for travelling showpeople.

This need will be met through the development of the sites identified on the Policies Map and
listed below:

Page 16



Land at The Stables, Baulkins Drove, Sutton St James allocated as a 'Proposed Residential
Travelling Showperson's Site', to provide accommodation for one additional household; and

Land at Bleu Raye Farm, Mill Gate, Whaplode Fen allocated as a 'Proposed Residential
Gypsy/Traveller Site', to provide accommodation for four households.

Planning permission will be granted for the development of these sites, provided that proposals:

1. will be adequately provided with appropriate infrastructure such as electricity, drinking-water,
waste-water treatment and recycling/waste management;
2. will not have a significant adverse effect on the amenities of existing local residents or
adjoining land users (and proposals must therefore give careful consideration to layout,
landscaping, external lighting schemes, and the type of business uses that would be
appropriate (if mixed residential and business use is proposed); and
3. will be successfully assimilated into both their immediate environs and the wider landscape.
the SELLP identifies 4 new permanent residential pitches for gypsies and travellers; and 1 new
permanent residential plot for travelling showpeople, subject to criteria relating to appropriate
infrastructure such as electricity, drinking-water, waste-water treatment and recycling/waste
management; no significant adverse effect on the amenities of existing local residents or
adjoining land users; and will be successfully assimilated into both their immediate environs and
the wider landscape.

Additional needs which may arise during the Local Plan period will be met through the
determination of planning applications on other, unallocated sites. Planning permission will be
granted for proposals on such sites, provided that they meet criteria 1 to 3 above, and they:

a. provide occupants with an acceptable standard of amenity;

b. are not located adjacent to uses likely to endanger the health of occupants, such as a refuse
tip, water recycling centres or contaminated land;

c. respect the scale of the nearest settled community;

d. will not place undue pressure on local infrastructure;

e. will not adversely affect heritage assets or areas of importance to nature conservation;

f. will not prejudice highway safety or give rise to problems of parking or highway access;

g. for sites for permanent residential use they:

i. provide occupants with access to education, health care and recreational facilities, shops and
employment within reasonable travelling distances, preferably by walking, cycling or public
transport;

ii. are suitable (or capable of being made suitable) for mixed residential and business use;

iii. are not located within Flood Zone 3a or 3b and, if located in Flood Zone 2, the Sequential
and Exception Tests have been passed; and

h. for sites for transit or stopping place use, are not located within Flood Zone 3b and, if located
within Flood Zone 3a, the Sequential and Exception Tests have been passed.

7.13 It is considered that this application proposal meets all points of this policy and is therefore
acceptable in principle.

7.14 Identifiable need for this development

7.15 As part of the SELLP work, an independent  Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment
was undertaken on behalf of the Joint Planning Unit, and the report published in November
2016.  At the time of the report In South Holland there were no public sites; 10 private sites with
a total of 57 pitches; 1 unauthorised site with 10 pitches; and 3 Travelling Showpeople yards
with 14 plots. There was no other provision for Gypsies, Travellers or Travelling Showpeople.

7.16 This report concluded that at the time of publication there are 5 Gypsy or Traveller households
Page 17



identified in South Holland that meet the government definition and  37 'unknown' households
that may meet the definition. This approach is consistent with the outcomes of a recent
Planning Appeal where access to a site was not possible but basic information was known
about the number of households residing there. (Planning Inspectorate Ref:
APP/Z6950/A/14/2212012).

7.17 The components of future need are as follows:
- Older teenage children in need of a pitch of their own.
- Households living on sites with temporary planning permissions.
- New household formation.
- In-migration.

7.18 Need for 4 additional pitches for the household that meets the definition is made up of new
household formation based on the demographics of household members - this allocation has
been set as the land at Bleu Raye Farm.

7.19 In addition, the report goes on to set out that there may be a need across the plan period for up
to 13 additional pitches for 'unknown' households.

7.20 It is considered that the proposed increase in the number of pitches on this site would contribute
to the future need for pitches within the local plan period, in accordance with the polices set out
above.

7.21 Sustainability

7.22 The principle of the use of part of this site has been accepted and the land has been used as
three pitches since circa 2015. The existing site is well maintained and is not generally viewed
as a significant feature in the area.

7.23 With regard to the principles of sustainability as well as the policy criteria above, the proximity to
other settlements and services needs to be considered. Within Policy 20 of the SELLP a site
called Bleu Raye Farm is allocated as a 'Proposed Residential Gypsy/Traveller Site' to provide
accommodation for four households. This site was considered to be acceptable and in a
sustainable location for the purposes of the plan and the policy. In addition the policy and the
allocation of Bleu Raye Farm was within the remit of the wider sustainability appraisal
undertaken on the plan as a whole.

7.24 Comparing the application site to Bleu Raye Farm, PE12 6RY, the application site is has very
comparable distances to services, schools and settlements as Bleu Raye Farm.  Specifically,
Bleu Raye Farm is 1.6 miles from Whaplode St Catherine, 4.3 miles from Holbeach, 2.2 miles
from Whaplode and 4.1 miles from Moulton.

7.25 The application site, PE12 0GA, is 1.1 miles from Lutton, 2.3 miles from Long Sutton, 4.6 miles
from Holbeach and 1 mile from Gedney Dyke.

7.26 As Bleu Raye Farm is considered to be in a sustainable location with regard to accessibility of
services, then it is reasonable to conclude that the application site has a comparable
sustainability credential, given the proximity of the site to settlements with shops, health
services and schools.

7.27 The layout being proposed would provide occupants with a high standard of amenity, given that
the pitches would be spacious and include private amenity space. The site is not located
adjacent to uses likely to endanger the health of occupants, such as a refuse tip, water
recycling centres or contaminated land.

7.28 The proposed development respects the scale of the nearest settled community; the hamlet
adjacent to the site at the junction of Ropers Gate with the B1359 and Kingsgate consists of a
handful of detached dwellings, and there are detached dwellings and farms further to the north,
along the B1359 and Kingsgate. Chapelgate and Gedney are located to the south west,
accessed from Hall Gate.

Page 18



7.29 The proposals would not place undue pressure on local infrastructure, and a package treatment
plant would be installed to process foul sewerage, with soakaways being sued for surface water
drainage. Refuse collection is be via the Council, as per current arrangements.

7.30 The site has been specifically considered by the Conservation Officer, and his views are set out
above. The proposal would not impact on the setting of the Grade II Listed Hallgate House,
which is located to the south west of the road junction. The listed property sits within its own
gardens and is not related to the application site.

7.31 No issues of nature conservation have been identified, as the land is a paddock, put to grass. It
is not proposed to alter the hedging around the site.

7.32 The revised access details would not prejudice highway safety or give rise to problems of
parking or highway access, and this is confirmed by the LCC Highways service.

7.33 The site has been acceptable for a permanent residential use and would provide further
occupants with access to education, health care and recreational facilities, shops and
employment within reasonable travelling distances, preferably by walking, cycling or public
transport.

7.34 The site is suitable (or capable of being made suitable) for mixed residential and business use,
however it is proposed to restrict business use of the site by conditions, in order that the Council
retains an element of control of the site, in order to protect the residential amenities of
neighbouring residents, which would be consistent with the restrictions placed on the existing
use of the site.

7.35 The site is located within Flood Zone 3a or 3b, however, a sequential test has been submitted
and measures put in place to ensure residents' safety. The sequential test is brief, however, this
site is to accommodate for an identified shortfall, and on this occasion, given the existing use of
the site, the proposal is considered to be an acceptable extension of this site.

7.36 Impact on Neighbouring Residents

7.37 The application site has a boundary with Hallgate Cottage and is separated by a mature hedge.
It is considered that other properties in the area, such as Hallgate Bungalow or Hallgate House
are not going to be impacted unduly by this development.

7.38 Visual Impact

7.39 The site is set back from Ropers Gate, and is glimpsed from the surrounding area. On balance
it is not considered that an increase in the number of pitches on the site would have such a
negative impact on the visual amenity of the area that permission could be refused.

7.40 Impact on a Listed Building

7.41 The impact on the setting of the Grade II Listed Hallgate House, which is located to the south
west of the road junction is addressed above. The listed property sits within its own gardens
and is not related to the application site. The property sits as an entirely independent dwelling
unrelated to the application land.

7.42 The Conservation Officer has visited the site and concludes that no objection is to be raised.

7.43 It is considered that the proposed development would not have an impact on the setting or
character of the listed building.

7.44 Highway matters, vehicle access and the quality of the access road

7.45 The proposed road surface would be formed of road planings with a suitable base andPage 19



bituminous surface to the edge of each pitch.

7.46 The LCC Highway service do not raise objection to the proposal, subject to a condition, which is
set out below. The road quality and layout would be acceptable for the development.

7.47 Sewerage Arrangements

7.48 The applicant is very willing to work with the Council and Anglian Water to provide either
package  treatment plants or septic tanks with the water draining into to dykes surrounding the
land or if septic tanks are installed they would be emptied and waste taken away from site.

7.49 As the views of Anglian Water have still not been received, the details of sewerage treatment
are to be agreed by condition, as set out below.

7.50 Flooding, and Sequential and Exception tests

7.51 The application is supported by a Flood Risk Assessment prepared in Feb 2019.  Whilst the site
is located within Flood Zone 3, the site is protected against both the 1 in 200 year return period
for tidal events, and the 1 in 100 year return period for fluvial event, meeting the requirements of
the National Planning Policy Framework.  The land is not within a functional flood plain, but is
located within a passive flood plain.  In addition, consideration has been given to the floor
heights of the caravans and the safety of residents. It is to be noted that the Environment
Agency raise no objection.

7.52 The site is already used as a travellers site, and as flood mitigation measures have been
incorporated in to the proposal in the form of raising floor levels and evacuation plans, the
proposals pass Part 2 of the Exception Test with an adequate exclusion strategy.

7.53 Management of refuse collection

7.54 The site has domestic refuse collected by the Council, in the usual way. It is intended refuse
would continue to be collected by the council. The applicant intends to ensure that a person
already living on the site will act as a maintenance person to help with any issues that may arise
moving refuse to the front of the site for collection.

In order to ensure acceptable refuse collection arrangements being put in place, condition 5 is
set out below to achieve the arrangements for storage of refuse off the public highway and
verge, and arrangements for presentation of refuse for collection.

7.55 AAdditional Considerations

7.56 Objection has been raised that the proposed scale of the development will devalue the area. It
is not clear whether this relates to the visual quality of the area, which is discussed above, or an
impact on land and house values. If it is the latter, this is not a planning concern and can be
given no weight.

7.57 Public Sector Equality Duty

7.58 In making this decision the Authority must have regard to the public sector equality duty (PSED)
under s.149 of the Equalities Act. This means that the Council must have due regard to the
need (in discharging its functions) to:
A. Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited
by the Act
B. Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and
those who do not. This may include removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by persons
who share a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic; taking
steps to meet the special needs of those with a protected characteristic; encouraging
participation in public life (or other areas where they are underrepresented) of people with a
protected characteristic(s).
C. Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those whoPage 20



do not including tackling prejudice and promoting understanding.

7.59 The protected characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

7.60 The PSED must be considered as a relevant factor in making this decision but does not impose
a duty to achieve the outcomes in s.149. It is only one factor that needs to be considered, and
may be balanced against other relevant factors.

7.61 It is not considered that the recommendation to grant permission in this case will have a
disproportionately adverse impact on a protected characteristic.

7.62 Human Rights

7.63 In making a decision, the Authority should be aware of and take into account any implications
that may arise from the Human Rights Act 1998. Under the Act, it is unlawful for a public
authority such as South Holland District Council to act in a manner that is incompatible with the
European Convention on Human Rights. The Authority is referred specifically to Article 8 (right
to respect for private and family life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol (protection of property).

7.64 It is not considered that the recommendation to grant permission in this case interferes with
local residents' right to respect for their private and family life, home and correspondence,
except insofar as it is necessary to protect the rights and freedoms of others (in this case, the
rights of the applicant). The Council is also permitted to control the use of property in
accordance with the general public interest and the recommendation to grant permission is
considered to be a proportionate response to the submitted application based on the
considerations set out in this report.The principle of the proposal is to be considered in the light
of the policy advice set out within the NPPF, Planning policy for traveller sites. prepared by
DCLG  in August 2015 and policies set out in the South Lincolnshire Local Plan.

7.65 For the reasons set out above it is recommended that planning permission is granted.

8.0 RECOMMENDATIONS

8.1 GGrant planning permission subject to the conditions listed in Section 9.0 of this report.

9.0 CONDITIONS

1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
approved plans:

Dwg. No's. Lee/01 & Lee/02 and the approved Flood Risk Assessment (completed by Geoff
Beel Consultancy, June 2015)

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

2. Occupation of the development hereby permitted shall be limited to a person or persons who
meet the definition of a gypsy or traveller as defined by national guidance set out in 'Planning
policy for traveller sites'(August 2015)(or as may be amended) and any resident dependants.

Reason: Permission has only been granted for this development in the open countryside on the
basis of an identified need for gypsy/traveller pitches. Occupation of this site by non-
gypsy/traveller individuals or families would be contrary to established national and local
policies of rural restraint.
This Condition is imposed in accordance with Policies 1, 2 and 20 of  the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan, March 2019 which reflect national guidance contained in both the
National Planning Policy Framework 2019 and 'Planning policy for traveller sites, March 2015'.

Page 21



3. Prior to the commencement of use of the development hereby permitted, the accesses to the
site shall be constructed and reconstructed with a sealed bituminous surface in accordance with
the Local Highway Authority's vehicular access specification.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to ensure the provision of safe and suitable
access for all users.
This Condition is imposed in accordance with Policy 2 the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan,
March 2019 which reflect national guidance contained in the National Planning Policy
Framework 2019.

4. Not more than 2 touring caravans and 2 mobile homes shall be sited on each of the five
additional gypsy/traveller pitches hereby approved, and no storage or sales of materials,
machinery, vehicles, waste or other commercial uses or processes, shall take place on the site.
A maximum of 2 additional touring caravans may be sited on each of the five additional
gypsy/traveller pitches hereby approved for no more than 28 days in any one calendar year.

Visiting touring caravans shall be logged in and out of the site.  This information will be available
in writing for the Council to view on request at any time.

Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development, levels of residential amenity
and the visual amenity of the area in which it is set, and to provide for short term family
gatherings.
This Condition is imposed in accordance with Policies 1, 2 and 20 of  the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan, March 2019 which reflect national guidance contained in both the
National Planning Policy Framework 2019 and 'Planning policy for traveller sites, March 2015'.

5. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied before details of the means of
storage and disposal of refuse and recycling have been submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be fully implemented before the
pitches hereby approved are occupied and shall thereafter be retained.

Reason: To ensure that adequate facilities are made available for refuse storage and disposal
to avoid pollution, to protect residential amenity, and in the interests of the appearance of the
site and the area within which it is set. This issue is integral to the development and therefore
full details need to be finalised prior to the commencement of works.
This Condition is imposed in accordance with Policies 2, 3 and 30 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan, 2019.

6. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 2015, (or any Order or Statutory Instrument revoking and re-enacting that
Order), none of the following developments or alterations shall be carried out.
i) the erection of freestanding curtilage buildings or structures including car ports, garages,
sheds, greenhouses, pergolas or raised decks;
ii) the erection of walls, fences or other means of enclosure.

Reason: To ensure that the Local Planning Authority retains control over the future extension
and alteration of the development, in the interests of its architectural and visual integrity, levels
of residential amenity, and the visual amenity and character of the area within which it is set.
This Condition is imposed in accordance with Policies 2 and 20 of  the South East Lincolnshire
Local Plan, March 2019 which reflect national guidance contained in both the National Planning
Policy Framework 2019 and 'Planning policy for traveller sites, March 2015'.

7. No touring caravan or day room on the site shall be used to provide permanent residential
accommodation.

Reason:  To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and  future occupants.
This Condition is imposed in accordance with Policies 2 and 20 of  the South East Lincolnshire
Local Plan, March 2019 which reflect national guidance contained in both the National Planning
Policy Framework 2019.

Page 22



8. The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried out in accordance with
the approved FRA (completed by Geoff Beel Consultancy, June 2015) including the following
mitigation measures detailed within the FRA:

- the finished floor levels of the permanent residences are set a minimum of 1m above existing
ground levels
- The caravans will be securely anchored to solid concrete plinths.

The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and shall subsequently
remain in place for the duration of the occupation of the site.

Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future occupants.
This Condition is imposed in accordance with Policies 2 and 4 of  the South East Lincolnshire
Local Plan, March 2019 which reflect national guidance contained in both the National Planning
Policy Framework 2019.

9. The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this application
by assessing it against all material considerations, including national guidance, planning
policies and representations that have been received during the public consultation exercise,
and by identifying matters of concern within the application and negotiating, with the Applicant,
acceptable amendments to the proposal to address those concerns.  As a result, the Local
Planning Authority has been able to grant planning permission for an acceptable proposal.

This decision notice, the relevant accompanying report and the determined plans can be viewed
online at http://planning.sholland.gov.uk/OcellaWeb/planningSearch

Background papers:- Planning Application Working File

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Richard Fidler ,  Development Manager
Telephone Number: 01775 764428
Email rfidler@sholland.gov.uk

Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A

Page 23



Page 24



You can view this application on the Council's web site at
http://planning.sholland.gov.uk/OcellaWeb/planningDetails?reference=H16-0930-18

SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Development Manager

To: Planning Committee - 04 September 2019

(Author: Lucy Buttery -  Principal Planning Officer)

Purpose: To consider Planning Application H16-0930-18

Application Number: H16-0930-18 DDate Received: 21 September 2018

Application Type: FULL

Description: Change of use to B8

Location: 344 Bourne Road Pode Hole Spalding

Applicant: M J L Skipmaster AAgent: Remway Design Ltd

Ward: Spalding Monks House WWard Councillors: Cllr A C Cronin
Cllr A M Newton

1.0 REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

1.1 Objections received and policy issues merit Committee consideration.

The application was deferred at the Planning Committee on 29 May 2019.

2.0 PROPOSAL

2.1 This application was previously reported to 29 May 2019 Planning Committee when it was
deferred for the following reason:
To seek clarification on Environmental Protection's revised position on the application as well as
newly recommended conditions.

2.2 The application in question is a full planning application for the change of use of land to the rear
of 344 Bourne Road, Spalding to use class B8.

2.3 The proposal has been submitted by MJL Skipmaster Ltd, whose existing premises are located
immediately to the east of the land in question. MJL Skipmaster are a company involved in the
manufacture of containers and skips and also refurbish containers that have been taken out of
service due to damage or fault. The proposal is for skips associated with MJL's existing
operations to be stored on the land, specifically on the hatched area shown on the submitted
plan. The applicant advises that approximately 200 skips would be stored on the land and that
these would be stacked no more than two containers high. The proposed storage area would be
constructed from crushed concrete with road planings.

2.4 For clarity, although the red line boundary on the site location plan includes the existing MJL
premises, this application is predominantly concerned with the land situated to the rear of 344

Page 25

Agenda Item 6.



Bourne Road. The reason behind the existing MJL site being included within the red line is
because National Planning Practice Guidance states that any red line boundary should include
all the land necessary to carry out the proposed development e.g. access to the site from a
public highway and car parking. Given that the land to the rear of 344 Bourne Road is proposed
to be accessed through the existing MJL site which takes it's access off Bourne Road, it was
considered appropriate to include this within the red line.

2.5 In terms of the applicant's reasons for submitting this application, gaining planning permission
for B8 use on the land to the rear of 344 Bourne Road would mean that the bulk of the skips
MJL are responsible for could be stored there instead of across the current site. This would
create room within the existing site for the construction of a new shot blasting shed (approved in
2017) which would be used to service the large ('RoRo') containers they receive. It is the
applicants intention that these 'RoRo' containers would be offloaded adjacent to the building, re-
fabricated, shot blast and painted at the building and stored adjacent ready for re-loading to a
lorry in the same area. This would reduce the movement of such skips around the site, thereby
reducing noise and would be a safer method of working.

2.6 The applicant intends to install an earth bund (3.6m in height) at the southern end of the storage
area to minimise visual and noise impact. Acoustic fencing would make up the remainder of the
boundary treatment along the southern boundary of the land.

33.0 SITE DESCRIPTION

3.1 As stated above, the site boundary encompasses the existing MJL Skipmaster premises
located to the north of Bourne Road and an area of land to the west (located to the rear of
number 344 Bourne Road). The land to the rear of no. 344 is currently laid to grass. There is a
Lincolnshire County Council Highways Depot to the west, with Vernatts Drain to the rear. There
are frontage properties to the east, south and west along Bourne Road.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES

4.1 The Development Plan

South East Lincolnshire Local Plan, March 2019

If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made
under the Planning Acts, Section 38 (6) to the Town and Country Planning Act as amended by
the 2004 Act states that the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise.

1 - Spatial Strategy
2 - Development Management
3 - Design of New Development
7 - Improving South East Lincolnshire's Employment Land Portfolio
30 - Pollution

National Guidance

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), 2019

Section 6 - Building a strong, competitive economy
Section 12 - Achieving well-designed places

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)

5.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

5.1 H16-0020-17 - Proposed detached shot blasting shed (approved 7th March 2017)

6.0 REPRESENTATIONS

6.1 Ward Councillor Page 26



6.2 Cllr A M Newton - Present activities are noisy and paint fumes can be smelt by residents.
Residents are concerned that moving storage nearer to residential properties fronting Bourne
Road will affect peaceful enjoyment of the properties. Application form states that there is not to
be a new access but the applicant talks as though there could be. Residents believe information
on application form is scant and not fully transparent. It is felt that the company have outgrown
the site and should be encouraged/helped to move to a more appropriate location. Residents
believe that they have a right of way on the roadway which the hatched area partly covers.

6.3 LCC Highways/SUDS

6.4 Does not wish to restrict the grant of permission.

6.5 SHDC Environmental Protection

6.6 No objection. I note that the application is now for B8 use only.

6.7 Public

6.8 There have been 4 resident objections highlighting the following key concerns:
- Already considerable noise which would increase with expansion;
- Increase in odour from paint; wind already carries the paint fumes to neighbouring properties;
- Bund would not prevent paint fumes from escaping;
- Questions how effective acoustic barrier and bund would be;
- Would affect the character of the area;
- Impact on condition of land by storing approximately 200 skips;
- Various questions asked re: use classifications and transparency of application;
- Proposal infringes on a legal right of way of another party;
- Site is in a rural community and an operation of this size and complexity should be located in a
suitably designated area e.g. Wardentree Lane;
- Waste paper and plastics blow from site to garden;
- No provision for soundproofing on eastern boundary;
- Highway safety;
- Impact on drainage with vehicles crossing dyke between 344 Bourne Road and MJL;
- Impact on physical and mental health of nearby residents;
- Light levels if security lights are installed;
- Impact on views; and
- Impact on property prices.

7.0 CONSIDERATIONS

7.1 PPlanning Considerations

7.2 Policy

7.3 The site is located outside of the settlement boundary for Spalding as set out in the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2019) and is, therefore, classed as being in the countryside in planning
policy terms. Policy 1 (Spatial Strategy) of the Local Plan states that development in the
countryside will only be permitted that is necessary to such a location and/or where it can be
demonstrated that it meets the sustainable development needs of the area in terms of
economic, community or environmental benefits. In terms of the former, the proposal is
necessary in this location in so far as the existing business is located adjacent and it is logical
for the business to utilise the land next door for reasons of efficiency and practicality. In terms of
the latter, it would deliver economic benefits by improving the efficiency of an existing business
and ultimately allowing for the creation of up to 15 additional jobs. The environmental and
community ('amenity') aspects of the proposal will be considered later in this report however, in
summary, it is not considered that there are any issues that would represent a conflict with
Policy 1 of the Local Plan.

7.4 Policy 7 of the Local Plan (Improving South East Lincolnshire's Employment Land Portfolio)
states that "the extension of an existing business outside of allocated employment sites will be
supported provided that the proposal involves the re-use of previously-developed land or the

Page 27



conversion/re-use of redundant buildings. Where it can be demonstrated that no suitable
building capable of conversion/re-use is available or the re-use of previously-developed land is
not available or is unsuitable, proposals on non allocated sites may be acceptable provided:
a. the development does not conflict with neighbouring land uses;
b. there is no significant adverse impact upon the character and appearance of the area;
c. the design is responsive to the local context;
d. there will be no significant adverse impact on the local highway network;
e. there will be no significant adverse impact upon the viability of delivering any allocated
employment site;
f. proposals maximising opportunities for modal shift away from the private car are
demonstrated; and
g. there is an identified need for the business location outside of identified employment areas on
the Policies Map."

7.5 Given that the former historical use of the land was horticultural, it is not considered to be
previously-developed land. As such, the proposal should be assessed against parts a-f above.
A number of the points (a-d) are covered in more detail in the remainder of the report in the
sections on residential amenity, highways and impact upon character and appearance of the
area. In terms of those that are not, the following arguments can be made. It is not considered
that there would be a significant adverse impact upon the viability of delivering any allocated
employment site. The site is not strategic in scale and would be associated with the existing
business adjacent. Furthermore, the business has identified a need for further land to support
its operations and acquiring the land adjacent is the most logical solution to this. Although the
proposal would not directly maximise opportunities for modal shift away from the private car,
utilising the land adjacent would mean that a storage location would not have to be sought
elsewhere which would minimise traffic movements.

7.6 In terms of national planning policy relating to employment, Section 6 of the NPPF states that
'planning decisions should help create the conditions in which businesses can invest, expand
and adapt. Significant weight should be placed on the need to support economic growth and
productivity, taking into account both local business needs and wider opportunities for
development.'. Permitting the proposed development would support the growth needs of an
existing local business which is contributing to the local economy.

7.7 Residential amenity

7.8 Some of the issues raised by residents relate specifically to the operation of the existing
premises. Namely, existing noise issues and paint fumes affecting neighbouring properties and
no provision being made for soundproofing on the eastern boundary. These are issues for
Environmental Protection. SHDC's Lead Environmental Protection Officer has confirmed that
complaints regarding the operation of the existing premises have been received since the
submission of this application from the occupants of two properties in close proximity to the site.
These complaints have been investigated but no statutory noise nuisance has been found to
have occurred.

7.9 In relation to the proposed change of use, objectors have raised concern that noise and paint
odour would increase with the expansion and that the proposed bund would not prevent paint
fumes from escaping. It should be noted that the applicants interest in gaining permission for
the change of use of the land is in being able to move skips stored on their current site to the
land adjacent in order to improve flow around the site. It is accepted that this would have the
resultant effect of creating room for the shot blast shed to be constructed in the north east
corner of the existing site, however planning permission has already been granted for this and it
would only be able to operate under the terms of that permission which were considered to be
acceptable at the time.

7.10 In terms of the relationship between the proposal and existing residential properties, the skip
storage area would be approximately 30 metres from the rear elevation of the nearest
residential property, 346 Bourne Road. Number 344 Bourne Road is currently unoccupied and
would be sold to MJL Skipmaster as part of the sale of the land. It is their intention to rent this
residential property out and so it is in their interests for their business operations to be as
'resident friendly' as possible. The applicant proposes to install an earth bund and acoustic
fencing along the southern end of the skip storage area as a mitigation measure. It should also
be noted that Lincolnshire County Council's Pode Hole Highways depot is immediately to the
west of the site and is an existing noise generating use in close proximity to residential

Page 28



properties. This depot lies to the rear of two residential properties which front on to Bourne
Road and there is the access road to the depot in between the two dwellings. The proposal
would be no nearer to the existing residential properties than the Highways depot, which does
generate noise and there is the potential for this to occur at unsociable hours. The usual
working hours of MJL Skipmaster are 7:00am - 5:00pm weekdays, but the applicant advises
that there is limited activity between 3:30pm and 5:00pm as most production staff finish work at
3:30pm.

7.11 Concern has been raised that the existing access between 344 and 346 Bourne Road would be
used by HGVs to access the site. However, the applicant has stated that this would not be the
case and the gated access that was originally proposed between these two properties has been
removed.

7.12 Additionally, the applicant has stated that skips would be moved by all-terrain forklift which, they
state, vibrate less than standard warehouse forklifts due to their different tyres. This would help
minimise the impact their movement could have.

7.13 One objector has commented that there may be extra light pollution if security lights were to be
installed. In response to this, the applicant has confirmed that there are no plans to install
security lighting and a condition will be added to prevent the installation of external lighting
without the submission of details to, and permission of, the Council.

7.14 B8 use is generally considered to be compatible with residential uses and, taking into account
the above and in the absence of a formal objection from SHDC Environmental Protection, it is
not considered that there is a defendable reason for refusal on the grounds of residential
amenity.

7.15 Impact upon character and appearance of the area

7.16 Objectors raise a concern that the proposal would affect the character of the area. However, the
site is located to the rear of an existing property and the proposed earth bund would minimise
the visual impact when viewed from Bourne Road. Furthermore, there are existing industrial
units on the other side of Bourne Road and the site itself is between the existing premises of
MJL Skipmaster and the County Council Highways depot on the other. The proposal would
effectively be an expansion of MJL's existing premises and taking into account the above, it is
not considered that it would be out of keeping with the existing character of development in the
area.

7.17 Highways

7.18 Concern regarding highway safety has been raised by a member of the public, however, the
Highways Authority have not objected to the proposal. There is therefore no justifiable reason to
refuse the application on highways grounds.

7.19 Other considerations

7.20 One objector asks various questions regarding use classifications and suggests that the
applicant has not been transparent through the application. However, the supporting information
does contain further details on the proposal. It is accepted that the submission of supporting
information has been somewhat piecemeal, however this has been made publically accessible
at all times and reconsultation carried out with residents when necessary.

7.21 Concern was raised that the proposal infringes on a legal right of way to the east of 346 Bourne
Road. The amended plans take this into account and the site boundary is now clear of this area.

7.22 Concerns have also been raised regarding surface water drainage. It was originally proposed
that power washing would take place on the site to the rear of the skip storage area, however,
the applicant has since amended their plans and confirmed that any power washing would take
place within the existing power washing bay within the existing site. Furthermore, LCC as Lead
Local Flood Authority have not objected to the proposal. It would, therefore, be unreasonable to

Page 29



refuse the application on the grounds of unacceptable surface water drainage.

7.23 The impact on the condition of the land by storing approximately 200 skips is another concern
raised. However, the proposed storage area shown on the plan would not remain grassed and
would instead be constructed from crushed concrete with road planings.

7.24 Impact on views and property prices are considerations, however, they are ones which only
carry very limited weight in the planning balance.

7.25 Conclusion

7.26 Taking the above into account, it is considered that the proposal is in accordance with Policies
1, 2, 3, 7 and 30 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2019), as well as Sections 6 and 12
of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).

7.27 AAdditional Considerations

7.28 Public Sector Equality Duty

7.29 In making your decision you must have regard to the public sector equality duty (PSED) under
s.149 of the Equalities Act. This means that the Council must have due regard to the need (in
discharging its functions) to:
A. Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited
by the Act.
B. Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and
those who do not. This may include removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by persons
who share a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic; taking
steps to meet the special needs of those with a protected characteristic; encouraging
participation in public life (or other areas where they are underrepresented) of people with a
protected characteristic(s).
C. Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who
do not including tackling prejudice and promoting understanding.

7.30 The protected characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

7.31 The PSED must be considered as a relevant factor in making this decision but does not impose
a duty to achieve the outcomes in s.149 is only one factor that needs to be considered, and
may be balance against other relevant factors.

7.32 It is not considered that the recommendation in this case will have a disproportionately adverse
impact on a protected characteristic.

7.33 Human Rights

7.34 In making your decision, you should be aware of and take into account any implications that
may arise from the Human Rights Act 1998. Under the Act, it is unlawful for a public authority
such as South Holland District Council to act in a manner that is incompatible with the European
Convention on Human Rights.

7.35 You are referred specifically to Article 8 (right to respect for private and family life), Article 1 of
the First Protocol (protection of property). It is not considered that the recommendation in this
case interferes with local residents' right to respect for their private and family life, home and
correspondence, except insofar as it is necessary to protect the rights and freedoms of others
(in this case, the rights of the applicant). The Council is also permitted to control the use of
property in accordance with the general interest and the recommendation is considered to be a
proportionate response to the submitted application based on the considerations set out in this
report.

Page 30



88.0 RECOMMENDATIONS

8.1 GGrant permission subject to those conditions listed at Section 9.0 of this report.

9.0 CONDITIONS

1. The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning with the
date of this permission.

Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
approved plans:
Site Location Plan; and
Block Plan.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3. Before the development hereby permitted is first brought into use, an earth bund and acoustic
fencing as illustrated on the submitted Block Plan shall be installed and shall be retained for the
lifetime of the development hereby approved.

Reason: In the interests of the residential amenity of nearby properties.
This Condition is imposed in accordance with Policies 2, 3 and 30 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan, 2019.

4. The use of the land to the rear of 344 Bourne Road is restricted to B8 use only.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of residential amenity.

5. No HGVs shall enter or exit the site using the existing access between 344 and 346 Bourne
Road.

Reason: In the interests of the residential amenity of nearby properties.
This Condition is imposed in accordance with Policies 2, 3 and 30 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan, 2019.

6. Details of any external lighting to be installed in association with the change of use of land to
the rear of 344 Bourne Road shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority prior to its installation. The lighting shall thereafter be installed in accordance
with the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of the residential amenity of nearby properties, visual amenity and to
prevent light pollution.
This Condition is imposed in accordance with Policies 2, 3 and 30 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan, 2019.

7. No more than 250 skips shall be stored on the land to the rear of 344 Bourne Road at any one
time and these shall be stacked no more than 2 skips high.

Reason: In the interests of amenity.
This Condition is imposed in accordance with Policies 2, 3 and 30 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan, 2019.

8. No movement of any skips on the land to the rear of 344 Bourne Road shall take place outside
the hours of 8:00am to 5:00pm Monday to Friday, 8:00am to 12:00pm Saturdays, nor at any
time on Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays.

Reason: In the interests of the amenity of local residents.
This Condition is imposed in accordance with Policies 2, 3 and 30 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan, 2019. Page 31



9. The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this application
by assessing it against all material considerations, including national guidance, planning
policies and representations that have been received during the public consultation exercise,
and by identifying matters of concern within the application and negotiating, with the Applicant,
acceptable amendments to the proposal to address those concerns.  As a result, the Local
Planning Authority has been able to grant planning permission for an acceptable proposal.

This decision notice, the relevant accompanying report and the determined plans can be viewed
online at http://planning.sholland.gov.uk/OcellaWeb/planningSearch

Background papers:- Planning Application Working File

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Richard Fidler ,  Development Manager
Telephone Number: 01775 764428
Email rfidler@sholland.gov.uk

Appendices attached to this report

Page 32



Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



You can view this application on the Council's web site at
http://planning.sholland.gov.uk/OcellaWeb/planningDetails?reference=H16-1267-18

SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Development Manager

To: Planning Committee - 04 September 2019

(Author: Polly Harris-Gorf -  Principal Planning Officer)

Purpose: To consider Planning Application H16-1267-18

Application Number: H16-1267-18 DDate Received: 24 December 2018

Application Type: FULL

Description: Commercial development comprising a B1 office building of 1,026 sq m, 8 small
business units of 240 sq m in B1 and / or B8 use, and enabling residential
development of 43 houses comprising 12 x 2-bed, 29 x 3-bed and 2 x 4-bed,
landscaping, access routes, car parking and associated infrastructure

Location: Land within/adjacent:Lincs Gateway Business Park, and south: Fen End Lane
Spalding

Applicant: Ashley King Developments Ltd AAgent: Waller Planning

Ward: Spalding St Marys WWard Councillors: Lord Porter
Cllr H T Drury

1.0 REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

1.1 The application raises matters of principle, planning policy, viability and developer contributions
that merit Member consideration.

2.0 PROPOSAL

2.1 This is a full application for a commercial development comprising a B1 office building of 1,026
sq m, 8 small business units of 240 sq m in B1 and / or B8 use, and "enabling" residential
development of 43 houses comprising 12 x 2-bed, 29 x 3-bed and 2 x 4-bed dwellings,
landscaping, access routes, car parking and associated infrastructure.

2.2 Access is proposed from Fen End Lane, with the access road then leading to separate areas of
development of an office building, a series of industrial units and 43 dwellings; a mix of
detached, semi detached and short terraces.

2.3 The commercial, business elements of the proposal would provide three buildings (Buildings 1-
3) to house eight light industrial units to the west of the access road,  each with parking spaces
- 50 spaced being proposed overall. The buildings proposed would be constructed of facing
brickwork to the 2.4 metres from ground level, with a  Kingspan cladding system to the upper
level, under Kingspan composite panel roofing including roof lights.  Each building is proposed
to include a mezzanine level and would have commercial height roller shutter doors.

2.4 A two storey office building (Building 4) with parking  is proposed to the south-east of the
Page 35

Agenda Item 7.



access road from Fen End Lane, faced in a Kingspan cladding system under a grey profile
aluminium clad shallow pitched roof. Parking is shown for 32 cars, two of which would be to
disabled access standards.

2.5 The residential element of the proposal is shown to the west of the access road, partially
bounding on to the dwellings in Fen End Lane, and would comprise a development of  two
storey dwellings - 12 x 2-bed, 29 x 3-bed and 2 x 4-bed houses, in small terraces, semi
detached pairs or on detached plots. The house types proposed are typical in style and
materials to this developer, being a mix of brick dwellings, some with and weatherboarding
under pitched roofs.

2.6 The plans show an existing right of way being maintained running north-south across the site.

2.7 A swale is proposed adjacent to the road to be formed.

2.8 The application is supported by a Design & Access statement, Flood Risk Assessment, Noise
Impact Assessment, Viability Appraisal and Ecology Survey.

2.9 A Landscape Strategy Drawing is mentioned in the Design & access statement but has not
been submitted.

2.10 Since submission the applicant has submitted unsolicited revisions to resolve matters regarding
the siting of a bridleway.

2.11 The applicant is offering no affordable housing provision, education contribution or contribution
to NHS services. A financial viability appraisal was submitted, and this has been independently
reviewed. The findings are set out below.

2.12 The applicant sets out a case that the residential development proposed would enable, or cross
subsidise, the commercial elements of the application scheme, stating that This application
proposes the first few commercial buildings within the northern part of the site, which would be
in B1 and B8 uses. They would provide high quality office accommodation, as well as the
potential for research and development, light industrial or storage facilities. In addition, the
application proposes 45 (sic) houses, which would provide the funding required to enable the
construction of these commercial buildings.

33.0 SITE DESCRIPTION

3.1 The application site consists of approximately 22 hectares (54 acres), is largely flat and is open
land, sitting to the north of the A1175/A16 roundabout and to the East of the B1173. The site is
approximately 2.5 miles to the south of Spalding town centre.

3.2 The northern area has historically been largely in agricultural use, although part of it was
previously occupied by a building in B8 use. This building was destroyed by a fire in 2006, and
has since been demolished. The site retains some elements of hard standing, and is in part
previously developed land. Earth bunds within the site were constructed for the purpose of
attenuating noise from the B8 use, and protecting the amenity of housing on Fen End Lane.

3.3 The Definitive Rights of Way Map shows Spalding Public Bridleway 894 affecting the
development site.

3.4 Lincs Gateway benefits from outline planning permission. It is also identified as an allocation
within the SouthEast Lincolnshire Local Plan, as a prestige employment site SP002.  This is set
out in more detail below.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES

4.1 The Development Plan
Page 36



South East Lincolnshire Local Plan, March 2019

Policies
01 Spatial Strategy
02 Development Management
03 Design of New Development
04 Approach to Flood Risk
05 Meeting Physical Infrastructure and Service Needs
06 Developer Contributions
08 Prestige Employment Sites
10 Meeting Assessed Housing Requirements
11 Distribution of New Housing
17 Providing a Mix of Housing
18 Affordable Housing
19 Rural Exception Sites
28 The Natural Environment
29 The Historic Environment
30 Pollution
31 Climate Change and Renewable and Low Carbon Energy
32 Community, Health and Well-being
33 Delivering a More Sustainable Transport Network
36 Vehicle and Cycle Parking
APPENDIX 6 Parking Standards
APPENDIX 8 Developer Contributions for Education Facilities
APPENDIX 9 Developer Contributions for Health Care Facilities

4.2 If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made
under the Planning Acts, Section 38 (6) to the Town and Country Planning Act as amended by
the 2004 Act states that the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise.

4.3 National Guidance

4.4 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), 2019

4.5 Sections
2. Achieving sustainable development
4. Decision-making
5. Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
6. Building a strong, competitive economy
8. Promoting healthy and safe communities
9. Promoting sustainable transport
11. Making effective use of land
12. Achieving well-designed places
14. Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
15. Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
16. Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

4.6 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)

4.7 Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government PPG updated 9 May 2019, This
guidance sets out the principles to be used in viability appraisal., and discusses viability
amongst other matters, in particular stating:

Any viability assessment should reflect the government's recommended approach to defining
key inputs as set out in National Planning Guidance.

5.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

5.1 Lincs Gateway benefits from outline planning permission. It is also identified as a proposed
allocation within the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan, as a prestige employment site.

Page 37



5.2 H16-0009-14. Land north and south of Barrier Bank Road (B1173), and north-west of the A1175
and A16 on the southern edge of Spalding. Proposed business park, hotel, public
house/restaurant, conference and function centre, petrol filling station, restaurant/cafe with
ancillary retail together with associated landscaping, access, highways, parking, drainage,
utilities and services and infrastructure works. Approved 10-10-14.

5.3 H16-0025-15. Barrier Bank Cowbit. Proposed business park, hotel, public house/restaurant,
conference and function centre, petrol filling station, restaurant/cafe with ancillary retail together
with associated landscaping, access, highways, parking, drainage, utilities and services and
infrastructure works - approved under H16-0009-14.  Modification of condition 8 to amend
requirement to set finished floor levels of the buildings within parcels B3a and B3b from 1 metre
above existing ground level to not less than 600mm above ground level. Approved. 23-06-15.

5.4 H16-0874-15. Barrier Bank Business Park Land north & south of Barrier Bank Road (B1173) &
north west of A1175 & A16 on southern edge of Spalding. Proposed service station (Amended
layout). Approved. 16-12-15.

5.5 H16-1293-16. Land Between Barrier Bank & B1179 Spalding Lincs . Change of use class from
D1 to B1. Approved. 02-03-17.

5.6 H16-1217-17. Land at Goodison Road A16 and B1173. Business park, hotel, public
house/restaurant, conference and function centre, petrol filling station, restaurant/cafe with
ancillary retail together with associated landscaping, access, highways, parking, drainage,
utilities and services and infrastructure works - approved under H16-0025-15.  Modification of
Condition 2 to allow amendments to previously approved plans. Approved. 30-07-18.

66.0 REPRESENTATIONS

6.1 Spalding & District Civic Society

Comment as follows:

The housing development was not actually part of the Gateway Business Park, but on a site
next to it - doesn't it contravene the approval of Gateway
The house designs are uninspired and will not create much sense of space.
Incorporation of bridleway within the development: question whether it is any longer a
meaningful bridleway, running alongside and across access roads.
Does the use of this adjacent land (or its proposed housing layout) contravene the requirement
that Gateway Business Park development should 'mitigate the impact of the prestige site ....with
the open countryside'.
Business Park: Buildings 1, 2 and 3 are little more than sheds.

6.2 SHDC Environmental Protection Officer

Requests the full land contamination condition at this location.

6.3 LCC Historic Environment Officer

Comment that an archaeological condition should be imposed if permission is granted.

6.4 LCC Flood Risk & Development Manager

Requests that the Local Planning Authority request the applicants to provide additional
information -

Whilst the submitted details show a pedestrian link to the existing Fen End Lane residential
area, there is currently no continuous footway link between the site and the established built-up
area of Spalding because the footway along Barrier Bank north of Fen End Lane has collapsed
due to subsidence of part of the bank.
Without that link, residents of the proposed dwellings would be reliant upon the use of a motor
vehicle to safely access the facilities within the town.
The proposed development may not therefore meet the NPPF requirement of providing safe

Page 38



and suitable access for all users.
There are two junctions within the submitted site layout drawing where the side road joins the
main road at an oblique angle. The layout will need to be amended to show those side roads
joining the main road perpendicularly.

6.5 LCC Rights of Way & Countryside Access Officer

Raised objection to the originally submitted scheme due to the alignment of  the new estate
road on the same route as the Public Bridleway,  that the current route is an 'off highway' route
that keeps walkers and cyclists away from vehicular traffic, the bridleway's wider use needed to
be considered; the bridleway is a recreational resource that would be used for dog walking (a
development of this size could easily expect a dog per household requiring a walk twice per
day) by people from this proposed development and the adjacent housing estate or as a part of
a longer walk.

Comment that during any works allowed by this proposal, users of the Public Right of Way
should not be inconvenienced or exposed to hazards by any such works.

As a result of the issues set out above, revised drawings were submitted relocating the
bridleway, and the LCC Rights of Way & Countryside Access Officer has clarified that he no
longer raises objection.

6.6 LCC Education Service

Requests a contribution of  £67,658 for Primary education.

6.7 NHS

Request a financial contribution of £28,380 for local services.

6.8 Environment Agency

Raised objection to the original submission and withdrew this following the submission of an
updated flood risk assessment (FRA). No objection subject to conditions regarding the works
set out in the FRA.

6.9 Anglian Water

No objection subject to conditions regarding on-site foul water drainage works and surface
water drainage.

6.10 PEDALS

Planning permission should not be granted without a safe cycling access which avoids cyclists
having to use the fast stretch of the B1173 which leads to and from the A16. Planning
permission should not be granted without satisfactory details of the arrangements for cycle
storage and cycle parking.

6.11 Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust

Would like to see the recommendations within the survey report controlled by conditions. Would
also like to see the landscaping proposals so that native species can be encouraged to be
planted. Lighting and landscaping design, public open spaces to have satisfactory future
management.

6.12 Police Crime Prevention Officer

No objections to the housing development subject to Building Regulation measures,
consideration of boundaries, shed/cycles storage and parking provision which should ideally be
within the boundary line. Preferable not to have footpaths to the rear of properties unless
securely gated.

With regard to the commercial units, the detail and form of the perimeter and security fencing isPage 39



to be considered. Also consideration of signage and CCTV, landscaping, lighting and building
regulation matters.

6.13 Public

Objections received  from 13 households to the original submission, raising the following issues:

Site is not identified as a housing site in the 2006 or the 2019 plan.
The land is on open countryside.
The land is described in the (emerging) plan as greenfield, with a broadleaved plantation that
should be retained as part of the Lincs Gateway Development. This copse is an amazingly
diverse area for different wildlife.
Losing the copse and the surrounding area would be catastrophic for so much flora and fauna
that
have established themselves and such a retrograde step when our agenda nationally and
globally is to conserve the nature we have, as it is such an important part of our ecological
future.
This is the only greenfield area in 2-3 miles where dogs and horses can be walked safely and
local residents of Fen End Lane can walk.
Would take further agricultural land out of production.
The increased traffic that will be accessing the B1173. This is a road that has a speed limit of 60
MPH and increased traffic would make the proposed traffic junction hazardous.
Cyclist fatalities on the B1173.
Irrespective of whether the application is passed or not due to the increased volume of traffic on
the B1173, a speed limit between Little London Bridge and the A16 roundabout should be
considered. It is the only access road into Spalding centre that does not have one.
No safe footpath or cycleway from the site or the Lincs Gateway site to Spalding centre. The
footpath on the B1173 is closed due to subsidence. No sign that this will be remedied in the
foreseeable future.
There is no bus route into town - anticipate increased use of the footpath by children from the
new homes or that free transport to school is needed with no safe footpath or cycleway.
No pavements along the A1073.
Edge of Plan is an existing Public Bridleway where proposed road to the housing site is
planned.
A Public Bridleway cannot just be removed according to the countryside Act.
A bridleway is planned to change to part road which will not be a suitable replacement
Issues of flood risk
The dyke along the boundary with Fen End Lane must be retained.
Sewerage Facilities would not be able to cope with this extra housing of this type and amount.
The sewerage pipe running down Fen End Lane would need to be seriously upgraded.
The sewerage system is already over-utilised by the flushing of the sewerage treatment plant
for the Applegreen Petrol Filling Station, and a foul smell comes up each time in properties in
Fen End Lane. This has been reported to Anglian Water.
Surface water drainage is piped along Fen End Lane under the bridleway and into a dyke at the
north edge of the proposed site. Any restriction to this water drainage route will be detrimental
to much of the land around the existing properties in Fen End Lane.
The 43 residential buildings are not in keeping with those in Fen End Lane which are mostly
bungalows. There are no new bungalows in the plan.
The proposed houses are close to the already busy B1173 meaning they will suffer from traffic
noise & pollution some of it caused by the residents themselves
Spalding's infrastructure is already under stress with increased traffic, oversubscribed doctor's
surgeries, dentists, little public transport and full schools.
Overlooking and loss of privacy to residents in Fen End Lane.
The industrial development will bring noise, light and industrial pollution to homes in Fen End
Lane.
Would expect the hours of use of the industrial units to be controlled.
Landscaping bunds have been removed that were put in to negate noise from the industrial site
to existing dwellings.
The layout of the housing development does not provide any children's play space or green
areas for play.
None of the Lincs Gateway sites are served by public transport.
Utilities would not cope with the  development - telephone lines, broadband, surface water,
water pressure and electrical supplies.
The seed funding from the proposed housing development  for the business park is not a good
enough excuse/reason to take away a greenfield site. Investment for the business park should
be sought elsewhere - from the 900 house development at Holbeach or the developments in
Crowland and Cowbit.

Page 40



The lighting to the bridleway promised before development never materialised.
The bridleway has not been cut back or maintained.
The conference centre is now the developers own offices along with several other small
businesses.

6.14 Following the submission of a revised layout dealing with the bridleway and other minor
changes, objections were received from 4 households (all previous objectors) objecting to the
following -

Still object to the principle of the development.
Object to any re routing or development of said Bridleway as there is no actual requirement to
do so as it is not in an area of the Spalding local plan for development until 2035.
Removal of trees would reduce protection from pollution.
The site is not within the Spalding settlement boundary and considered as open countryside &
all previous comments to this site made previously still stand.
The idea of the housing development to seed funding is total nonsense.

77.0 CONSIDERATIONS

7.1 PPlanning Considerations

7.2 PPrinciple of Development

7.3 Considerations of the principle of the development can be set out as two uses and policy issues
- the commercial, employment generating proposals within the application and the residential
element.

7.4 Commercial Development

7.5 Part of the application site is identified as part of one of the five high profile 'prestige' sites (Lincs
Gateway, Spalding) that will act as drivers for different parts of the economy, helping to diversify
the economic base and attract high-skilled and high-value employment to South East
Lincolnshire.

7.6 Policy 8: Prestige Employment Sites, of the SELLP set out a series of general principles for the
delivery of a mix of employment opportunities, design, access to the strategic highway network,
good connections into the local public transport, pedestrian and cycle network, mitigatation of
the impacts of the Prestige Site with neighbouring developments and the open countryside, and
gives specific guidance that the Lincs Gateway site as a whole shall meet the following
expectations:

7.7 - Development will comprise B1, B2 and B8 uses with some ancillary A3 and A4 uses permitted.
- Access to be provided at two points off the B1173 and Barrier Bank from the A16/ A1175.
- Additional internal road infrastructure is required to service new development off the two
access points to the site.
- Provide a scheme that delivers utilities, water & foul water, surface water drainage & flood
mitigation upgrades.
- Deliver a landscaping scheme that ensures the site respects the character of the open
countryside that is adjacent to the site.

7.8 It is considered that the layout and form of the proposed commercial B1 and B2 units would
accord with the broad terms of  Policy 8 of the SELLP and the expectations of the outline and
detailed consents that have been granted on the wider Lincs Gateway land.

7.9 Residential Development including Sustainability

7.10 Paragraph 8 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019  (NPPF) sets out that

Achieving sustainable development means that the planning system has three overarching
objectives, which are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually supportive ways (so

Page 41



that opportunities can be taken to secure net gains across each of the different objectives):

a) an economic objective - to help build a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by
ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available in the right places and at the right time
to support growth, innovation and improved productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the
provision of infrastructure;

b) a social objective - to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring that a
sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to meet the needs of present and future
generations; and by fostering a well-designed and safe built environment, with accessible
services and open spaces that reflect current and future needs and support communities'
health, social and cultural well-being; and

c) an environmental objective - to contribute to protecting and enhancing our natural, built and
historic environment; including making effective use of land, helping to improve biodiversity,
using natural resources prudently, minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting
to climate change, including moving to a low carbon economy.

7.11 Paragraph 9 of the NPPF goes on to set out that:

These objectives should be delivered through the preparation and implementation of plans and
the application of the policies in this Framework; they are not criteria against which every
decision can or should be judged. Planning policies and decisions should play an active role in
guiding development towards sustainable solutions, but in doing so should take local
circumstances into account, to reflect the character, needs and opportunities of each area.

7.12 Coming to the District wide policies, Policy 1: Spatial Strategy of the SELLP sets the
overarching development strategy for the District, and sets out areas where development is to
be directed. With regard to land defined as countryside, the policy sets out that:

In the Countryside development will be permitted that is necessary to such a location and/or
where it can be demonstrated that it meets the sustainable development needs of the area in
terms of economic, community or environmental benefits.

7.13 The SELLP is clear that Housing needs may also, by exception, be justified in the Countryside;
for example, for Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople accommodation (Policy 20:
Accommodation for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople) or to meet the specific
housing needs of a settlement (see Policy 19: Rural Exceptions Sites). This application is not
being justified as providing either of these forms of development, and so for the purposes of this
report, can be set aside.

7.14 Policy 10 of the SELLP sets out the expectation for housing delivery over the plan period.

7.15 Policy 11 of the SELLP sets out a hierarchy of settlements for housing development and the
SELLP acknowledges that incremental growth in housing supply will come about through infill
and 'speculative' applications both within the settlements identified in Policy 11 and also within
the Other Service Centres and Settlements.

7.16 Policy 17: Providing a Mix of Housing sets out that the provision of new houses will seek to
meet the long term needs of the Plan area in order to maintain and provide mixed, inclusive and
sustainable communities.

7.17 The application site is not an allocated housing site, and is within open countryside, as defined
in the SELLP.

7.18 Open market housing is not a development type that requires a countryside location. This is
particularly the case in this instance where the Council has a recently adopted development
plan with a spatial strategy setting out how the housing needs for the area will be met. In
addition the Council has an identified 5-year housing land supply.

7.19 As this is the case, the applicant's justification that this housing development would enable
bringing the commercial element of the application forward quicker is to be considered, and

Page 42



balanced against the broader policy concerns regarding the site being located in open
countryside, developer contributions and other matters. This is discussed in further detail below.

7.20 As well as being located outside the settlement boundary of Spalding, the site is not considered
to be in a sustainable location with regard to a housing proposal. The site is remote from
Spalding, and is not easily accessible by foot or bicycle. The footpath network in the area is
poor, and the part of the footpath towards Spalding on Fen End Lane has collapsed and has
been closed for use. The applicant is in discussion with LCC Highways with an offer to replace
and shore up this footpath, but at the time of writing this has not been resolved.

7.21 Even if this footpath were to be reinstated the distances involved for a round trip to the nearest
services and facilities, particularly by foot, are not insignificant and are unlikely to be convenient
for all users. This would particularly be the case during inclement weather and during shorter
days in the winter months.

7.22 The Applegreen petrol filling station to the south has a handful of sandwich and food
concessions associated with petrol filling stations Costa Coffee, Greggs, Subway,  but sells very
little fresh food and could not be compared to a local shop; it is unlikely to be used as such by
the potential residents of this development, who would need to cross a road with no linking
footpath and an unrestricted road speed, in order to reach the petrol filling station.

7.23 Furthermore, public transport does not operate along Fen End Lane and there is no bus stop or
stopping place. Consequently, access to services and facilities is unlikely to be convenient on a
day to day basis and there is likely to be high reliance on the private motor vehicle to access
services and facilities. The location of the site does not therefore have attributes that make it
sustainable for development for new market housing.

7.24 To conclude, the site is not in an appropriate location for the provision of new dwellings and
would be in conflict with the spatial strategy in Policy 1 of the SELLP as well as policies 10, 11
and 17 of the SELLP which underpin the delivery of housing within defined settlements.
Furthermore, the proposal does not comply with any of the exceptions for new dwellings in the
countryside defined under policies 19, 22 or 23 of the SELLP. The proposal would be in conflict
with the key principles relating to sustainability and Paragraph 12 of the Framework which
states that the development plan is the starting point for decision making and where a proposal
conflicts with an up-to-date development plan it should not usually be granted.

7.25 The site is located in open countryside, however the use of the land as agricultural land can be
set aside as an objection that would warrant a reason for refusal, as the land is not considered
on balance to contribute significantly to the level of agricultural land in the area.

7.26 Viability and Enabling Development

7.27 The concept of "enabling development" is not a new idea, and has been used routinely to
enable the preservation and improvement of built heritage, such as listed buildings and the
conservation of significant places.  In this context 'Enabling development' refers to development
that would usually be considered harmful but is considered acceptable because the resulting
benefits outweigh the harm.

7.28 The applicant wishes for the residential element of this proposal to be considered as enabling
development to assist in bringing forward the commercial elements of the proposal earlier than
the applicant considers these units can be delivered without the enabling development.

7.29 Information regarding the viability of the scheme has been submitted and considered
independently on behalf of the Council.

7.30 Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)
updated 9 May 2019 sets out the Government's recommended approach for carrying out a
viability assessment. In addition the RICS sets provisions for appraisal assessments. It is under
these parameters that the appraisal has been undertaken. As is usual, the analysis has taken
into  account the location of the site, which is disconnected from Spalding itself.

Page 43



7.31 The independent assessment concludes that the applicant's residential and commercial values
in looking at the appraisal accord with the independent reviewers opinions. The development
proposal, even before affordable housing and other policy compliant contributions are factored
in, is not considered to be financially viable. The viability pressure is extremely high here and as
such the independent assessor concludes that this is unable to support any affordable housing.
The fundamental issues with the site is that the revenue derived from the commercial elements
(office & industrial) is only marginally above the basic construction costs. Once externals /
infrastructure, abnormals, professional fees, marketing etc start to be factored in the
commercial element becomes effectively loss making. This is driving weak viability outcome.

7.32 As there is agreement that the scheme is not financially viable, the next issue to consider is
whether the Council, by looking at the residential element of this application as being
exceptional and setting aside the planning polices relating to the development, would accept the
residential development in this location in order to off set part of the financial loss on the site, to
enable the commercial elements of the scheme to be brought forward earlier than could be
delivered otherwise.

7.33 As set out above, this would mean setting aside the provisions of the NPPF and the following
SELLP  residential and contribution policies -

Policy 1 Spatial Strategy
Policy  6 Developer Contributions
Policy 10 Meeting Assessed Housing Requirements
Policy 11 Distribution of New Housing
Policy 17 Providing a Mix of Housing
Policy 18 Affordable Housing

7.34 It is the consideration of officers that the cross subsidy of the commercial elements of this
scheme by reducing the loss to the developer by off setting it against an unviable residential
development in open countryside and without affordable housing or other contributions would
not be acceptable.  It is the purpose of the SELLP to deliver residential development in the right
locations and with appropriate contributions, and this application, although acting as enabling
development and apparently bringing forward a commercial development early, would result in
unacceptable residential development, which would be of greater disbenefit than the benefit to
be gained by the commercial development at this time.

7.35 Layout and Design

7.36 The proposed commercial development is considered to be acceptable and typical in form and
materials of this type of development.

7.37 The residential layout does not take in to account the requirement that all dwellings have on plot
parking, however this would be a matter for negotiation if the scheme were considered
acceptable in principle.

7.38 The form of the individual dwellings is a standard approach for development within the District.

7.39 Impact on neighbouring residents/character

7.40 The development of the application site, and in particular the residential proposals of the
scheme, would have sufficient separation from existing dwellings within Fen End Lane so as to
not lead to an unacceptable level of overlooking or loss of light. The Council does not currently
have design standards that set minimum separation distances and the circumstances of each
development is to be assessed on its merits.

7.41 It would undoubtedly change the character of the site from open land to a residential estate,
however the use of the land for two storey dwellings rather than bungalows to complement
existing neighbouring dwellings would not considered to be necessary, if the application were
acceptable in principle.

7.42 As and when an application comes forward for the commercial elements of the development, at
Page 44



that time consideration would be given to matters such as hours of use and the external lighting
of  the industrial units, to minimise impact on adjoining residents and the open countryside
location.

7.43 The landscaping bunds that would be removed that were put in to negate noise from the former
industrial buildings to existing dwellings. It is not considered that the retention of this bund within
this development would be a reasonable expectation.

7.44 Highway matters

7.45 With minor changes the road layout would accord with the requirements of the LCC highways
officers, and the access to the site, which exists, would not, in the opinion of the highways
officers lead to an issue of highway safety.

7.46 Impact on the Bridleway

7.47 The alignment of the bridleway has been realigned in discussion with the LCC Rights of Way &
Countryside Access Service, who now raise no objection to the scheme, despite the bridleway
being sited to run behind the commercial units. In addition, in order to ensure the delivery of
lighting to the Bridleway, this could again be required by condition if the scheme as a whole
were considered to be acceptable.

Foul and Surface Water Matters

7.48 With regard to the issues of flooding and provisions for foul and surface water, both Anglian
Water and the Environment Agency raise no objection subject to conditions regarding the
delivery of the requirements of the Flood Risk Assessment, and on-site foul water drainage
works and surface water drainage.  If the application as a whole were considered to be
acceptable these matters could be controlled by conditions.

7.49 The discharge in to any dykes, watercourses or public drains in the area would be controlled by
the relevant bodies.

7.50 Wildlife and Landscaping

7.51 Losing the copse and the surrounding area and the consequent impact on flora and fauna has
been raised as an objection however Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust has confirmed that they would
like to see the recommendations within the survey report controlled by conditions. They would
also like to see the landscaping proposals so that native species can be encouraged to be
planted. Lighting and landscaping design, public open spaces to have satisfactory future
management.  If the application as a whole were considered to be acceptable these matters
could be controlled by conditions.

7.52 The removal of existing trees would reduce protection from pollution and it would be hoped that
once a proposal comes forward for the commercial development that discussion would be had
to seek to retain as many existing trees as possible.

7.53 Other Matters

7.54 The use of the land as a dog walking area is not considered to override the consideration of the
wider impacts of this development.

The capacity of  utilities such as  telephone lines, broadband, surface water, water pressure and
electrical supplies would be matters for the developer to resolve with the relevant providers and
bodies.

7.55 Conclusions

It is considered that the site is not in an appropriate location for the provision of new dwellings,Page 45



being located in open countryside and not easily accessible from Spalding,  and would therefore
be in conflict with the spatial strategy in Policy 1 of the South East Lincs Local Plan (SELLP,
March 2019) as well as policies 10, 11 and 17 of the SELLP which underpin the delivery of
housing within defined settlements.

7.56 The proposal would also not comply with any of the exceptions for new dwellings in the
countryside defined under policies 19, 22 or 23 of the SELLP and would be in conflict with the
key principles relating to sustainability and Paragraph 12 of the Framework which states that
the development plan is the starting point for decision making and where a proposal conflicts
with an up-to-date development plan it should not usually be granted.

7.57 Furthermore, it is considered that this application, although acting as enabling development and
apparently bringing forward a commercial development early, would result in unacceptable
residential development, which would be of greater disbenefit than the benefit to be gained by
the commercial development at this time. The application therefore conflicts with policies 1, 6,
10, 11, 17 and 18 of the SELLP.

7.58 For these reasons it is recommended that planning permission be refused, for the reasons set
out below.

7.59 AAdditional Considerations

7.60 Public Sector Equality Duty

7.61 In making your decision you must have regard to the public sector equality duty (PSED) under
s.149 of the Equalities Act. This means that the Council must have due regard to the need (in
discharging its functions) to:
A. Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited
by the Act
B. Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and
those who do not. This may include removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by persons
who share a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic; taking
steps to meet the special needs of those with a protected characteristic; encouraging
participation in public life (or other areas where they are underrepresented) of people with a
protected characteristic(s).
C. Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who
do not including tackling prejudice and promoting understanding.

7.62 The protected characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

7.63 The PSED must be considered as a relevant factor in making this decision but does not impose
a duty to achieve the outcomes in s.149 is only one factor that needs to be considered, and
may be balance against other relevant factors.

7.64 It is not considered that the recommendation in this case will have a disproportionately adverse
impact on a protected characteristic.

7.65 Human Rights

7.66 In making your decision, you should be aware of and take into account any implications that
may arise from the Human Rights Act 1998. Under the Act, it is unlawful for a public authority
such as South Holland District Council to act in a manner that is incompatible with the European
Convention
on Human Rights.

7.67 You are referred specifically to Article 8 (right to respect for private and family life), Article 1 of
the First Protocol (protection of property). It is not considered that the recommendation in this
case interferes with local residents' right to respect for their private and family life, home and
correspondence, except insofar as it is necessary to protect the rights and freedoms of others

Page 46



(in this case, the rights of the applicant). The Council is also permitted to control the use of
property in accordance with the general interest and the recommendation is considered to be a
proportionate response to the submitted application based on the considerations set out in this
report.

88.0 RECOMMENDATIONS

8.1 TThat planning permission be refused as per the reasons for refusal set out at 9.0, below.

9.0 REASONS FOR REFUSAL

1. The site is not in an appropriate location for the provision of new dwellings and would be in
conflict with the spatial strategy in Policy 1 of the South East Lincs Local Plan (SELLP, March
2019) as well as policies 10, 11 and 17 of the SELLP which underpin the delivery of housing
within defined settlements. Furthermore, the proposal would not comply with any of the
exceptions for new dwellings in the countryside defined under policies 19, 22 or 23 of the
SELLP. The proposal would be in conflict with the key principles relating to sustainability and
Paragraph 12 of the Framework which states that the development plan is the starting point for
decision making and where a proposal conflicts with an up-to-date development plan it should
not usually be granted.

2. Furthermore, it is the purpose of the South East Lincs Local Plan (SELLP, March 2019) to
deliver residential development in the right locations and with appropriate contributions, and this
application, although acting as enabling development and apparently bringing forward a
commercial development early, would result in unacceptable residential development, which
would be of greater disbenefit than the benefit to be gained by the commercial development at
this time. The application therefore conflicts with policies 1, 6, 10, 11, 17 and 18 of the SELLP.

3. The determined plans and documents are:
Application form
Block Location Plan 96-BLP-01
Site Layout 96-SL-01 G
Site Layout Colour  96-SL-02 F
Building 1 96-B1-100
Building 2&3 96-B2/3-100
Building  4 96-B4-100
Avon 96-AV-001
Clyde 96-CLY-001
Holland 96-HOL-001
Lock 96-LCK-002
Mere 96-MER-002
Nene 96-NENE-002
Ribble 96-RIBB-001
Welland 96-WELL-001
Planning, Design and Access Statement. December 2018
Flood Risk Assessment Report 800/235r4
Noise Impact Assessment Ref. DP386/18472/Rev.0
Confidential Viability Information

4. The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this application
by assessing it against all material considerations, including national guidance, planning
policies and representations that have been received during the public consultation exercise.
Furthermore, matters of concern with the application have been identified and discussed with
the Applicant.  However, the issues are so fundamental to the proposal that it has not been
possible to negotiate a satisfactory solution and due to the harm, which has been clearly
identified within the reason(s) for the refusal, approval has not been possible.

This decision notice, the relevant accompanying report and the determined plans can be viewed
online at http://planning.sholland.gov.uk/OcellaWeb/planningSearch

Background papers:- Planning Application Working File
Page 47



LLead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Richard Fidler ,  Development Manager
Telephone Number: 01775 764428
Email rfidler@sholland.gov.uk

Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A

Page 48



Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



You can view this application on the Council's web site at
http://planning.sholland.gov.uk/OcellaWeb/planningDetails?reference=H11-0936-18

SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Development Manager

To: Planning Committee - 04 September 2019

(Author: David Gedney -  Senior Planning Officer)

Purpose: To consider Planning Application H11-0936-18

Application Number: H11-0936-18 DDate Received: 21 September 2018

Application Type: OUTLINE

Description: Residential development - 6 affordable housing units

Location: St James Road Long Sutton Spalding

Applicant: Proctor Bros Ltd AAgent: G R Merchant Ltd

Ward: Long Sutton WWard Councillors: Cllr A C Tennant
Cllr J Tyrrell
Cllr 

1.0 REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

1.1 The application was deferred at the Planning Committee on 16 January 2019.

2.0 PROPOSAL

2.1 The application was previously reported to the Planning Committee on 16 January 2019 where
it was deferred in order to clarify the position on identified local need for affordable housing and
to determine from the applicant what arrangements are/would be in place to ensure
deliverability of 100% affordable scheme and its subsequent retention. A copy of the previous
report is appended.

2.2 The applicant has now submitted additional information, which is summarised later in the report.

3.0 SITE DESCRIPTION

3.1 As previous report.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES

4.1 The Development Plan

South East Lincolnshire Local Plan, March 2019

Policy 01 - Spatial Strategy
Policy 02 - Development Management

Page 51

Agenda Item 8.



Policy 03 - Design of New Development
Policy 04 - Approach to Flood Risk
Policy 11 - Distribution of New Housing
Policy 17 - Providing a Mix of Housing
Policy 19 - Rural Exception Sites
Policy 28 - The Natural Environment
Policy 30 - Pollution
Policy 32 - Community, Health and Well-being
Policy 36 - Vehicle and Cycle Parking

If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made
under the Planning Acts, Section 38 (6) to the Town and Country Planning Act as amended by
the 2004 Act states that the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise.

National Guidance

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), 2019

Sections 2, 4, 5, 9, 11, 12, 14 and 15.

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)

5.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

5.1 Site

H11-1100-15 - Outline - Residential development (4 dwellings), St James Rd, Long Sutton -
Refused 20 January 2016 on sustainability and highway safety grounds.

Neighbouring Site to the West

H11-0313-07 - Full - Change of use to carpentry business - Granted.
Condition 2 - Use restricted to Class B2 (General Industrial)
Condition 3 - No manufacturing activity and loading/unloading shall be carried outside 7.30am
and 5pm on Mondays to Fridays (inclusive) and 7.30am to 12 noon on Saturdays
Condition 4 - Noise from any fixed plant on or within t he building shall exceed a level equivalent
to 35db LA eq (15 minutes) when measured at a height of 1.5 metres at any residential facade
unassociated with the site.
Condition 7 - Dust prevention measures.

6.0 REPRESENTATIONS

6.1 As previous report, plus information from applicant and further representations from Housing
Strategy (see below).

6.2 Additional Information from Applicant

6.3 Planning Statement - Paragraphs 77 and 78 of The National Planning Policy Framework
indicate that in rural areas, planning policies and decisions should be responsive to local
circumstances and support housing developments that reflect local needs. Local planning
authorities should support opportunities to bring forward rural exception sites that will provide
affordable housing to meet identified local needs, and consider whether allowing some market
housing on these sites would help to facilitate this.

6.4 To promote sustainable development in rural areas, housing should be located where it will
enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities. Planning policies should identify
opportunities for villages to grow and thrive, especially where this will support local services.
Where there are groups of smaller settlements, development in one village may support
services in a village nearby.

The site is a brownfield site that is infill development in line with the settlement that already
exists and is directly opposite a busy garden centre, this is not a proposal for an isolated

Page 52



development in the open countryside.

6.5 Proctor Brothers employs a significant number of people working in their farming business,
employing 18 full time members of staff as well as many seasonal casual workers that carry out
the farming.

6.6 Proctor Brothers and other local agricultural businesses need to employ young entrants into the
industry to develop into skilled operatives. These young entrants and their families require
affordable rented housing close to where they work in the countryside.

6.7 Two examples were met and their requirements discussed:

1. Local worker working for Proctor Bros currently living in a caravan, wife works locally in a
rural business and has a 2 year old child. They need a 2-3 bedroom shared equity house in the
immediate rural location to minimise trips to work.

2. Local worker working for Chandlers Agricultural machinery maintaining farm equipment used
on the local farms. Has a wife and 2 children and needs a 3 bedroom house located in the
countryside. Wife works part time at a rural business and the children go Sutton St James
School.

6.8 The six proposed houses would enable Proctor Bros and other local businesses to provide
much needed local housing for their agricultural business for workers to either rent or joint own
and minimise their car journeys to work.

6.9 Housing Needs Survey - There are 23 households identified as being in need of affordable
housing who either live in, or have a local connection to, Long Sutton.

6.10 To fulfil all current and immediate housing need in Long Sutton, 23 new affordable homes would
have to be built. This scale of need is well in excess of a 'typical' rural exception scheme. Any
proposal will need to consider which aspects of the identified need it is going to address.

6.11 Proposals that include market housing could also consider the market demand which exists
within the parish although there would be no 'local connection' controls on these dwellings.

6.12 Housing Strategy

6.13 I have many issues with this survey, the most pressing concerning the validity and
independence of the results. With the exception of the change of location the text and results
are identical to a rural housing needs survey entitled 'Housing needs survey results report for
Holbeach Bank' that was undertaken in November 2016 to accompany planning application
H09-0432-18 which is still undetermined. I therefore cannot rely on the results of this study.

6.14 I would also question why the study focuses on Long Sutton when the area in question is Sutton
Crosses. If the applicant wishes to undertake a housing need survey of Sutton Crosses then
they should work with the council to agree the methodology and ensure that their assessments
of housing need concurs with the criteria for the Housing Register on the rented side and the
HomeBuy agents on the shared ownership side. I would expect a study to be undertaken by an
independent rural housing needs specialist rather than the developer so that any results would
be impartial.

6.15 If we are focusing on the affordable housing need in Long Sutton then referring to Policy 19:
Rural Exception Sites 'housing that cannot be met within settlement boundaries' I would argue
that affordable needs are being met locally by the all affordable scheme that has just
commenced on-site at the former haulage yard, H11-0916-16 and the s106 affordable housing
that will come forward on the allocated sites in that settlement.

7.0 CONSIDERATIONS

7.1 PPlanning Considerations Page 53



The main issues in this case are:
- Whether the site is a suitable location for affordable housing;
- The likely impact upon the amenity of nearby residents;
- Highway safety;
- Other material considerations such as flood risk, drainage and contamination.

7.2 Housing Policy/Sustainability

7.3 As indicated in paragraph 47 of the National Planning Policy Framework, 2019, planning law
requires that applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the
development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

7.4 The proposed development is outside a defined settlement limit within the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan, 2019. It is therefore within an area regarded as countryside. Policy 1 of
the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (SELLP) is therefore applicable. It states that
development will be permitted in the countryside that is necessary to such a location and/or
where it can be demonstrated that it meets the sustainable development needs of the area in
terms of economic, community or environmental benefits.

7.5 Policy 19 of the SELLP specifically refers to rural exception sites. It indicates that proposals for
housing on sites situated outside, but adjoining the defined settlement boundaries identified by
Policy 1 will be permitted where the following criteria are met:

- the scheme would meet an identified local need for affordable housing, starter homes or
specialist housing that cannot be met within the settlement boundaries;
- the scale of the development would be in-keeping with the role and function of the settlement;
and
- pre-application engagement with the local community has been undertaken to the satisfaction
of the Local Planning Authority.

7.6 Policy 19 also stipulates that where it is demonstrated that a proportion of market housing is
necessary to cross-subsidise the specific identified housing need, the housing market
proportion will be 50% or less. The housing need to be met will be secured by legal agreement
to ensure that the need can be met in perpetuity and available for members of the immediate
community.

7.7 The above policies are consistent with advice within the National Planning Policy Framework,
2019. Paragraph 77 indicates that local planning authorities should support opportunities to
bring forward rural exception sites that provide affordable housing to meet identified local
needs. Paragraph 78 indicates that sustainable rural housing should be promoted. However,
any development should be consistent with paragraphs 7 to 11, which indicate that there should
be a presumption in favour of sustainable development, unless any adverse impacts of doing so
would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies
within the Framework as a whole. The three threads to sustainable development are economic,
social and environmental.

7.8 Assessing the proposal against the above policies and advice, it is not essential for a rural
worker such as that specified by the applicant to reside on this particular site, which is some
distance from the applicant's main operational centres.

7.9 An Economic Role - The proposal would contribute towards housing supply and future
occupants may work locally, support local services and make a contribution to the local
economy. There would also be employment opportunities associated with the construction,
albeit in the short term.

7.10 A Social Role - The proposal would make a contribution to the supply of affordable housing
required to meet the needs of present and future generations. However, the site is well removed
from the centre of Long Sutton and is located on the opposite side of the A17. It is not located
on a main public transport route. It fronts a section of St James Road where there are no
footways and street lighting is poor. There is no continuous footway link into Long Sutton.
Consequently, occupiers of the proposed dwellings would have to walk along St James Road

Page 54



and cross the busy A17 to access the services and facilities within the town. In that sense, it is
considered that the location is not sustainable in the context of national and local guidance.

7.11 An Environmental Role - Due to the site's distance from local services and facilities and the
difficulty of having to negotiate the A17 future occupiers would be likely to have a high
dependence on the use of motor vehicles which, no matter the distance of travel involved,
would be contrary to one of the core planning principles of the Framework to make the fullest
use of public transport. Moreover, the reliance on the motor car would increase carbon
emissions, contrary to the requirements of the environmental role of planning.

7.12 The site is essentially a gap between existing frontage development along the north-western
side of St James Road. The proposal doesn't technically meet the definition of infill within the
South Holland Local Plan; namely, "an area which can accommodate one or two dwellings in an
otherwise continuously built-up frontage". Nevertheless, it is considered that the site could be
developed without materially harming the character/appearance of the rural locality. This is
subject to retention of the existing frontage trees and hedging, as far as possible.

7.13  Residential Amenity

7.14 It is considered that the site could be satisfactorily developed without materially harming the
amenity of nearby residents in terms of overlooking, lack of privacy, overshadowing,
overbearing effect, noise and disturbance, etc.

7.15 Commercial premises are situated to the south-west. Given this fact, 1.8 metre high
closeboarded fencing is recommended along the western boundary to protect the amenity of
future occupiers if permission was forthcoming. The property on plot 1 should have no noise
sensitive windows on its south-western elevation.

7.16  Highway Issues

7.17 The County Highways Authority objected to the previous application for 4 no. market housing on
highway safety grounds, but has not objected in this case.

7.18  Other Matters

7.19 Flood Risk - The site lies within Flood Zone 3 defined by the Environment Agency Flood Map.
The latter have been created as a tool to raise awareness of flood risk with the public and
partner organisations, such as Local Authorities, Emergency Services and Drainage Authorities.
The Maps do not take into account any flood defences. Also, large parts of the South Holland
District lie within Flood Zone 3. It is therefore necessary to use the refined flood risk information
(Hazard and Depth maps) within the South East Lincolnshire Strategic Flood Risk Assessment
(2017) as a basis to apply the sequential test.

7.20 In this respect, the site is within an area designated as "Danger for Some". There are alternative
sites appropriate for the proposed development that are reasonably available, more sustainable
and which are located in areas with a lower risk of flooding. The proposal therefore fails to
satisfy the sequential test.

7.21 Drainage - The applicant is proposing soakaways for surface water disposal. The South Holland
Internal Drainage Board has requested that percolation tests be carried out to define if a
soakaway system is suitable. If the results prove that the ground is insufficient for a soakaway,
then the applicant will need to confirm an alternative method for the proposed development.
Both foul and surface water drainage could be addressed by means of a condition if permission
was forthcoming.

7.22 Contamination - Environmental Protection has requested that a note be applied to any planning
permission relating to unexpected contamination.

7.23 AAdditional Considerations
Page 55



7.24 Public Sector Equality Duty

7.25 In making this decision the Authority must have regard to the public sector equality duty (PSED)
under s.149 of the Equalities Act. This means that the Council must have due regard to the
need (in discharging its functions) to:
A. Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited
by the Act
B. Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and
those who do not. This may include removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by persons
who share a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic; taking
steps to meet the special needs of those with a protected characteristic; encouraging
participation in public life (or other areas where they are underrepresented) of people with a
protected characteristic(s).
C. Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who
do not including tackling prejudice and promoting understanding.

7.26 The protected characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

7.27 The PSED must be considered as a relevant factor in making this decision but does not impose
a duty to achieve the outcomes in s.149. It is only one factor that needs to be considered, and
may be balanced against other relevant factors.

7.28 It is not considered that the recommendation in this case will have a disproportionately adverse
impact on a protected characteristic.

7.29 Human Rights

7.30 In making a decision, the Authority should be aware of and take into account any implications
that may arise from the Human Rights Act 1998. Under the Act, it is unlawful for a public
authority such as South Holland District Council to act in a manner that is incompatible with the
European Convention on Human Rights. The Authority is referred specifically to Article 8 (right
to respect for private and family life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol (protection of property).

7.31 It is not considered that the recommendation in this case interferes with local residents' right to
respect for their private and family life, home and correspondence, except insofar as it is
necessary to protect the rights and freedoms of others (in this case, the rights of the applicant).
The Council is also permitted to control the use of property in accordance with the general
public interest and the recommendation is considered to be a proportionate response to the
submitted application based on the considerations set out in this report.

7.32 Conclusion

7.33 Although the proposal is deliverable and would help to provide the supply of affordable housing
required to meet the needs of present and future generations this factor is outweighed by the
harm that the proposal would cause in terms of other social and environmental factors. The site
is poorly related to the existing settlement of Long Sutton, being on the opposite side of the
A17, and is some distance from existing services and facilities. Future occupiers would have to
negotiate St James Road, which has no footway and is poorly lit, and also the heavily trafficked
A17 to access local services on foot or by cycle. As a consequence, future occupiers would be
likely to have a high dependence on the use of motor vehicles, which would increase carbon
emissions, contrary to the requirements of the environmental role of planning.

7.34 The site is not therefore considered to be a suitable site for affordable housing with particular
regards to the principles of sustainable development. It is contrary to Policies 1 and 19 of the
South Holland Local Plan and Paragraphs 7, 8 and 11 of the National Planning Policy
Framework, 2019.

8.0 RECOMMENDATIONS

Page 56



8.1 RRefuse Permission

9.0 REASONS FOR REFUSAL

1. Although the proposal is deliverable and would help to provide the supply of affordable housing
required to meet the needs of present and future generations this factor is outweighed by the
harm that the proposal would cause in terms of other social and environmental factors. The site
is poorly related to the existing settlement of Long Sutton, being on the opposite side of the
A17, and is some distance from existing services and facilities. Future occupiers would have to
negotiate St James Road, which has no footway and is poorly lit, and also the heavily trafficked
A17 to access local services on foot or by cycle. As a consequence, future occupiers would be
likely to have a high dependence on the use of motor vehicles, which would increase carbon
emissions, contrary to the requirements of the environmental role of planning.

The site is not therefore considered to be a suitable site for affordable housing with particular
regards to the principles of sustainable development. It is contrary to Policies 1 and 19 of the
South Holland Local Plan and Paragraphs 7, 8 and 11 of the National Planning Policy
Framework, 2019.

2. The site is located within an area identified as "Danger for Some" within the South Holland
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (2017), which is used as a basis to apply the sequential test in
terms  of  flood  risk.  There are alternative  sites appropriate for the proposed development that
are reasonably available, more sustainable and which are located in areas with a lower risk of
flooding. The proposal  therefore conflicts with advice within paragraphs 155 to 161 of the
National Planning Policy Framework, 2019.

Background papers:- Planning Application Working File

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Richard Fidler ,  Development Manager
Telephone Number: 01775 764428
Email rfidler@sholland.gov.uk

Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A

Page 57



Page 58



You can view this application on the Council's web site at
http://planning.sholland.gov.uk/OcellaWeb/planningDetails?reference=H11-0936-18

SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Development Manager

To: Planning Committee - 16 January 2019

(Author: David Gedney -  Senior Planning Officer)

Purpose: To consider Planning Application H11-0936-18

Application Number: H11-0936-18 DDate Received: 21 September 2018

Application Type: OUTLINE

Description: Residential development - 6 affordable housing units

Location: St James Road Long Sutton Spalding

Applicant: Proctor Bros Ltd AAgent: G R Merchant Ltd

Ward: Long Sutton WWard Councillors: Cllr A C Tennant
Cllr J Tyrrell
Cllr L J Eldridge

1.0 REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

1.1 The application raises issues that warrant consideration by the Planning Committee.

2.0 PROPOSAL

2.1 Outline planning permission is sought for affordable housing, with all matters reserved for
subsequent approval. The application is accompanied by an indicative layout plan showing 3
pairs of 2/3 bedroom semi-detached dwellings.

3.0 SITE DESCRIPTION

3.1 The site (some 0.28ha) is situated on the northern side of St James Road opposite Silverwood
Garden Centre. It is currently grassed and has a number of trees, plus hedging, along its
frontage.

3.2 A detached bungalow is situated to the north-east (no. 6) and vacant industrial premises to the
south-west. It is understood that the latter has previously been used as a boat yard and a
coal/haulage yard prior to that. It received planning permission for use as a carpentry business
(reference H11-0313-07) in 2007, but it is not known whether this was implemented.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES

4.1 The Development Plan

South Holland District Local Plan, July 2006
Page 59



The South Holland Local Plan 2006 was formally adopted on 18 July 2006. Following a
direction from the Government Office for the East Midlands under paragraph 1(3) of Schedule
18 to the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, as of 18 July 2009 only certain Local
Plan policies have been extended and continue to form part of the development plan.  In the
context of those saved policies referred to below, it is considered that the Local Plan was
adopted in general accordance with the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (albeit
under the transitional arrangements).  Those policies referred to below are considered to accord
with the thrust of guidance set out in the National Planning Policy Framework, and in the
context of paragraph 215 of the NPPF should therefore continue to be given substantial weight
in the decision making process.

Policy SG1 - General Sustainable Development
Policy SG2 - Distribution of Development
Policy SG3 - Settlement Hierarchy
Policy SG4 - Development in the Countryside
Policy SG12 - Sewerage and Development
Policy SG13 - Pollution and Contamination
Policy SG14 - Design and Layout of New Development
Policy SG15 - New Development; Facilities for Road Users, Pedestrians and Cyclists
Policy SG16 - Parking Standards in New Development
Policy SG17 - Protection of Residential Amenity
Policy SG18 - Landscaping of New Development
Policy HS7 -- New Housing in the Open Countryside including Other Rural Settlements
Policy HS 9 - Rural Exceptions

If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made
under the Planning Acts, Section 38 (6) to the Town and Country Planning Act as amended by
the 2004 Act states that the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise.

National Guidance

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), 2018

Sections 2, 4, 5, 9, 11, 12, 14 and 15.

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG), 2014

5.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

5.1 H11-1100-15 - Outline - Residential development (4 dwellings), St James Road, Long Sutton -
Refused - 20 January 2016 on sustainability and highway safety grounds.

Neighbouring Site to the West

H11-0313-07 - Full - Change of use to carpentry business - Granted.
Condition 2 - Use restricted to Class B2 (General Industrial)
Condition 3 - No manufacturing activity and loading/unloading shall be carried outside 7.30am
and 5pm on Mondays to Fridays (inclusive) and 7.30am to 12 noon on Saturdays
Condition 4 - Noise from any fixed plant on or within the building shall exceed a level equivalent
to 35db LA eq (15 minutes) when measured at a height of 1.5 metres at any residential facade
unassociated with the site.
Condition 7 - Dust prevention measures.

6.0 REPRESENTATIONS

6.1 Long Sutton Parish Council

No response.

6.2 LCC Highways/SUDS

No objections.

Page 60



6.3 South Holland Internal Drainage Board

Surface water comments.

6.4 Environment Agency

No objections subject to finished floor levels being 300mm above St James Road carriageway.

6.5 Housing Strategy

We received a query back in 2016 about this site and whether it would be suitable for affordable
housing. The response at the time was that it was too far from all of the local amenities and do
not see that this position has changed. Hopefully we can move away from this notion that if it's
not suitable for market housing due to an unsustainable location then affordable will be ok. If
anything affordable housing needs to be in even more sustainable locations than the market.

6.6 SHDC Environmental Protection

Request contaminated land note.

6.7 LCC Archaeology

No archaeological impact.

6.8 Public

No comments received.

7.0 MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS

7.1 The main issues in this case are:
- Whether the site is a suitable location for affordable housing;
- The likely impact upon the amenity of nearby residents;
- Highway safety;
- Other material considerations such as flood risk, drainage and contamination.

7.2 Housing Policy/Sustainability

7.3 As indicated in Paragraph 47 of the National Planning Policy Framework, 2018, planning law
requires that applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the
development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

7.4 The site is located outside Sutton St James Development Boundary as defined in the South
Holland Local Plan, 2006. Policy HS7 indicates that new residential development is normally
only allowed in such locations if it is proven essential to meet the needs of rural workers, or the
proposal is for small scale rural exception affordable housing that complies with Local Plan
Policy HS9. Neither is applicable in this case.

7.5 Policy HS9 of the South Holland Local Plan relates to exception rural housing. It states that on
rural sites not identified in the Local Plan, affordable housing to meet local needs may be
exceptionally permitted. Proposed "exceptions site" development must:
1) Meet an identified local need and be of an acceptable size;
2) Be subject to an agreement which ensures that it remains as affordable housing for local
people and for second subsequent owner/occupiers, and;
3) Be in scale and character with the settlement in which it is to be located.
The Policy also stresses that the sustainability of proposals should be critically assessed with
reference to our settlement services and facilities survey and spatial strategy.

7.6 Paragraph 77 of the Framework stresses that in rural areas, local planning authorities should
support opportunities to bring forward rural exception sites that will provide affordable housing

Page 61



to meet identified local needs. Paragraph 78 indicates that sustainable rural housing should be
promoted.

7.7 Having regard to the above policies and advice within the Framework there is a presumption in
favour of sustainable affordable housing development, unless any adverse impacts of doing so
would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies
in the Framework. The three mutually dependent dimensions to sustainable development are
social, economic and environmental.

7.8 An Economic Role - The proposal would contribute towards housing supply and future
occupants may work locally, support local services and make a contribution to the local
economy. There would also be employment opportunities associated with the construction,
albeit in the short term.

7.9 A Social Role - The proposal would make a contribution to the supply of affordable housing
required to meet the needs of present and future generations. However, the site is well removed
from the centre of Long Sutton and is located on the opposite side of the A17. It is not located
on a main public transport route. It fronts a section of St James Road where there are no
footways and street lighting is poor. There is no continuous footway link into Long Sutton.
Consequently, occupiers of the proposed dwellings would have to walk along St James Road
and cross the busy A17 to access the services and facilities within the town. In that sense, it is
considered that the location is not sustainable in the context of national and local guidance.

7.10 An Environmental Role - Due to the site's distance from local services and facilities and the
difficulty of having to negotiate the A17 future occupiers would be likely to have a high
dependence on the use of motor vehicles which, no matter the distance of travel involved,
would be contrary to one of the core planning principles of the Framework to make the fullest
use of public transport. Moreover, the reliance on the motor car would increase carbon
emissions, contrary to the requirements of the environmental role of planning.

7.11 The site is essentially a gap between existing frontage development along the north-western
side of St James Road. The proposal does not technically meet the definition of infill within the
South Holland Local Plan; namely, "an area which can accommodate one or two dwellings in an
otherwise continuously built-up frontage". Nevertheless, it is considered that the site could be
developed without materially harming the character/appearance of the rural locality. This is
subject to retention of the existing frontage trees and hedging, as far as possible.

7.12 Residential Amenity

7.13 It is considered that the site could be satisfactorily developed without materially harming the
amenity of nearby residents in terms of overlooking, lack of privacy, overshadowing,
overbearing effect, noise and disturbance, etc.

7.14 Commercial premises are situated to the south-west. Given this fact, 1.8 metre high
closeboarded fencing is recommended along the western boundary to protect the amenity of
future occupiers if permission is forthcoming. The property on Plot 1 should have no noise
sensitive windows on its south-western elevation.

7.15 Highway Issues

The County Highways Authority has raised no objections to this application on highway safety
grounds.

7.16 Other Matters

7.17 Flood Risk - The site lies within Flood Zone 3 defined by the Environment Agency Flood Maps.
The latter have been created as a tool to raise awareness of flood risk with the public and
partner organisations, such as Local Authorities, Emergency Services and Drainage Authorities.
The Maps do not take into account any flood defences. Also, large parts of the South Holland
District lie within Flood Zone 3. It is, therefore, necessary to use the refined flood risk
information (Hazard and Depth maps) within the South East Lincolnshire Strategic Flood Risk

Page 62



Assessment (2017) as a basis to apply the sequential test.

7.18 In this respect, the site is within an area designated as "Danger for Some". There are alternative
sites appropriate for the proposed development that are reasonably available, more sustainable
and which are located in areas with a lower risk of flooding.

7.19 Drainage - The applicant is proposing soakaways for surface water disposal. The South Holland
Internal Drainage Board has requested that percolation tests be carried out to define if a
soakaway system is suitable. If the results prove that the ground is insufficient for a soakaway,
then the applicant will need to confirm an alternative method for the proposed development.
Both foul and surface water drainage could be addressed by means of a condition if permission
was forthcoming.

7.20 Contamination - Environmental Protection has requested that a note be applied to any planning
permission relating to unexpected contamination.

7.21 Conclusion

7.22 Although the proposal is deliverable and would help to provide the supply of affordable housing
required to meet the needs of present and future generations this factor is outweighed by the
harm that the proposal would cause in terms of other social and environmental factors. The site
is poorly related to the existing settlement of Long Sutton, being on the opposite side of the
A17, and is some distance from existing services and facilities. Future occupiers would have to
negotiate St James Road, which has no footway and is poorly lit, and also the heavily trafficked
A17 to access local services on foot or by cycle. As a consequence, future occupiers would be
likely to have a high dependence on the use of motor vehicles, which would increase carbon
emissions, contrary to the requirements of the environmental role of planning.

7.23 The site is not, therefore, considered to be a suitable site for affordable housing with particular
regards to the principles of sustainable development.

7.24 Moreover, the site is within an area designated as "Danger for Some" in flood risk terms. There
are alternative sites appropriate for the proposed development that are reasonably available,
more sustainable and which are located in areas with a lower risk of flooding.

8.0 RECOMMENDATIONS

8.1 RRefuse Permission

9.0 REASONS FOR REFUSAL

1. Although the proposal is deliverable and would help to provide the supply of affordable housing
required to meet the needs of present and future generations this factor is outweighed by the
harm that the proposal would cause in terms of other social and environmental factors. The site
is poorly related to the existing settlement of Long Sutton, being on the opposite side of the
A17, and is some distance from existing services and facilities. Future occupiers would have to
negotiate St James Road, which has no footway and is poorly lit, and also the heavily trafficked
A17 to access local services on foot or by cycle. As a consequence, future occupiers would be
likely to have a high dependence on the use of motor vehicles, which would increase carbon
emissions, contrary to the requirements of the environmental role of planning.

The site is not therefore considered to be a suitable site for affordable housing with particular
regards to the principles of sustainable development. It is contrary to Policies SG1 and SG2 of
the South Holland Local Plan and Paragraphs 7, 8 and 11 of the National Planning Policy
Framework, 2018.

Page 63



2. The site is located within an area identified as "Danger for Some" within the South Holland
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (2017), which is used as a basis to apply the sequential test in
terms  of  flood  risk.  There  are  alternative  sites  appropriate  for  the  proposed development
that are reasonably available, more sustainable and which are located in areas with a lower risk
of flooding. The proposal  therefore conflicts with advice within paragraphs 155 to 161 of the
National Planning Policy Framework, 2018.

Background papers:- Planning Application Working File

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Richard Fidler ,  Development Manager
Telephone Number: 01775 764428
Email rfidler@sholland.gov.uk

Page 64



You can view this application on the Council's web site at
http://planning.sholland.gov.uk/OcellaWeb/planningDetails?reference=H02-0075-19

SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Development Manager

To: Planning Committee - 04 September 2019

(Author: Lucy Buttery -  Principal Planning Officer)

Purpose: To consider Planning Application H02-0075-19

Application Number: H02-0075-19 DDate Received: 22 January 2019

Application Type: SEC 73 MODIFICATION

Description: Residential development - erection of up to 22 dwellings - approved under H02-0405-
17. Removal of Condition 4 relating to affordable housing

Location: Former South View Primary School Albion Street Crowland

Applicant: Woodgate Developments Ltd AAgent: Swann Edwards Architecture
Ltd

Ward: Crowland and Deeping WWard Councillors: Cllr B Alcock
Cllr J R Astill
Cllr 

1.0 REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

1.1 Policy issues merit Committee consideration.

2.0 PROPOSAL

2.1 This application is seeking to remove Condition 4 of H02-0405-17 relating to affordable housing.

2.2 Condition 4 of that permission requires a minimum of 15 no. of the total residential units (22 no.)
on the site to be Starter Homes to meet local needs.

2.3 In short, the condition is to be removed in order that an alternative affordable housing scheme
can be delivered, which would be secured via s106 agreement instead.

2.4 The application, as originally submitted, sought the removal of this condition altogether.
However, following the independent testing of viability evidence submitted by the applicant, a
compromise has been reached which would result in the delivery of 6 discount market sales
units. This would represent a policy compliant level of affordable housing but would differ to the
mix set out in Policy 18 (a split of 70% affordable rent and 30% intermediate for sale) as it
would result in 100% intermediate for sale.

2.5 Discounted market sales housing is defined in Annex 2 of the National Planning Policy
Framework (2019) as housing that: 'is that sold at a discount of at least 20% below local market
value. Eligibility is determined with regard to local incomes and local house prices. Provisions
should be in place to ensure housing remains at a discount for future eligible households.'Page 65

Agenda Item 9.



33.0 SITE DESCRIPTION

3.1 With the former primary school having been demolished, the site is now vacant and becoming
more overgrown with time. There are, however, areas of hard standing still visible within the site
and several mature trees around the perimeter of the site, including a hedgerow along the
eastern boundary.

3.2 There are bungalows to the west on the opposite side of Albion Street as well as some
detached dwellings on the same side as the site. Terraced properties run all along the eastern
side of Reform Street. There is a mix of bungalows and two storey dwellings on Broadway.

3.3 The site borders the Crowland Conservation Area on two sides at the northern part of the site
along Reform Street.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES

4.1 The Development Plan

South East Lincolnshire Local Plan, March 2019

If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made
under the Planning Acts, Section 38 (6) to the Town and Country Planning Act as amended by
the 2004 Act states that the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise.

Policy 1 - Spatial Strategy
Policy 2 - Development Management
Policy 3 - Design of New Development
Policy 4 - Approach to Flood Risk
Policy 6 - Developer Contributions
Policy 10 - Meeting Assessed Housing Requirements
Policy 11 - Distribution of New Housing
Policy 17 - Providing a Mix of Housing
Policy 18 - Affordable Housing
Policy 20 - The Natural Environment
Policy 29 - The Historic Environment
Policy 30 - Pollution
Policy 32 - Community, Health and Well-being
Policy 36 - Vehicle and Cycle Parking

National Guidance

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), 2019

Section 5 - Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
Section 11 - Making effective use of land
Section 12 - Achieving well-designed places
Section 14 - Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Section 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
Section 16 - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)

5.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

5.1 H02-0448-18 Reserved Matters application for the erection of 22 dwellings (approved 22nd
August 2018)

5.2 H02-0405-17 Outline application for residential development - erection of up to 22 dwellings
(approved 16th August 2017) - Condition 4 of this outline application requires a minimum of 15
of the total residential units on site to be Starter Homes to meet local needs.

Page 66



66.0 REPRESENTATIONS

6.1 Crowland Parish Council

No comments.

6.2 Public - One objection (summarised)

- Concerns regarding worsening traffic levels
- Lack of capacity at existing services and facilities in the town (e.g. schools, dentists, doctors
surgery)

7.0 CONSIDERATIONS

7.1 PPlanning Considerations

7.2 Affordable Housing

7.3 Condition 4 of H02-0405-17 - requiring a minimum of 15 Starter Homes on site - was imposed
as a result of Lincolnshire County Council (as owner of the site at that time) obtaining funding
from the Homes and Communities Agency (now Homes England) for the delivery of Starter
Home units. This was above the then policy requirement of 1/3 affordable housing, as set out in
the South Holland Local Plan (2006).

7.4 However, the site has since been sold and the Starter Homes programme, launched back in
2014, has not proved to be successful.

7.5 This application, as originally submitted, sought the removal of Condition 4 altogether. This was
on the basis that the applicant deemed that the delivery of any affordable housing on this site
would render the scheme unviable. The applicant has therefore submitted viability evidence,
which the Council has had independently tested. This concluded that an affordable housing
scheme comprising of 4 x affordable rent and 2 x shared ownership dwellings is capable of
being viably delivered, in accordance with Policy 18 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan
(2019). Following a meeting with the applicant to discuss various points around the appraisal,
the applicant offered an alternative of 4 x discount market sales units, which the independent
viability assessor advises to be justifiable in terms of viability. However, in order to maximise the
number of affordable units, the Council responded with a counter offer of 6 x discount market
units, which had also been found to be viable. The applicant has accepted this as a way of
moving forward. This would represent a policy compliant level of affordable housing (at 27%)
but would differ to the mix set out in Policy 18 (a split of 70% affordable rent and 30%
intermediate for sale) as it would result in 100% intermediate for sale.

7.6 SHDC Strategic Housing have been party to discussions and are content that 6 discount market
units are acceptable on the site given the other shared equity opportunities that are in the
pipeline for Crowland.

7.7 Furthermore, the Peterborough Sub-Regional Strategic Housing Market Assessment suggests
that Starter Homes will only be of marginal benefit in meeting overall affordable housing needs
so a deviation from this is considered acceptable.

7.8 Other planning considerations

7.9 One public objection has been received which covers concerns relating to the impact on traffic
levels that additional development would have and impact on the capacity of existing services in
the town. In the context of the site already having approval for the construction of 22 dwellings,
these matters are considered to carry very limited weight in the planning balance for this
application.

7.10 AAdditional Considerations
Page 67



7.11 Public Sector Equality Duty

In making this decision the Authority must have regard to the public sector equality duty (PSED)
under s.149 of the Equalities Act. This means that the Council must have due regard to the
need (in discharging its functions) to:
A. Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited
by the Act.
B. Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and
those who do not. This may include removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by persons
who share a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic; taking
steps to meet the special needs of those with a protected characteristic; encouraging
participation in public life (or other areas where they are underrepresented) of people with a
protected characteristic(s).
C. Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who
do not including tackling prejudice and promoting understanding.

The protected characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

The PSED must be considered as a relevant factor in making this decision but does not impose
a duty to achieve the outcomes in s.149. It is only one factor that needs to be considered, and
may be balanced against other relevant factors.

It is not considered that the recommendation in this case will have a disproportionately adverse
impact on a protected characteristic.

7.12 Human Rights

In making a decision, the Authority should be aware of and take into account any implications
that may arise from the Human Rights Act 1998. Under the Act, it is unlawful for a public
authority such as South Holland District Council to act in a manner that is incompatible with the
European Convention on Human Rights. The Authority is referred specifically to Article 8 (right
to respect for private and family life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol (protection of property).

It is not considered that the recommendation in this case interferes with local residents' right to
respect for their private and family life, home and correspondence, except insofar as it is
necessary to protect the rights and freedoms of others (in this case, the rights of the applicant).
The Council is also permitted to control the use of property in accordance with the general
public interest and the recommendation is considered to be a proportionate response to the
submitted application based on the considerations set out in this report.

7.13 CConclusion

7.14 The provision of 6 discount market sales units as the affordable housing scheme is considered
to be an acceptable approach for this particular site for the reasons set out above.

8.0 RECOMMENDATIONS

8.1 AAuthorised to Grant Permission subject to the applicant entering into a Section 106 agreement
for the provision of 6 discount market sales units and those Conditions listed at Section 9.0 of
this report.

9.0 CONDITIONS

1. The development must be begun before 22 August 2020.

Reason: As required by Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Page 68



2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
approved plans:

Accompanying H02-0405-17 -
Drw No 480-36 OP BP01
Drw No 480-36 OP LP01
Drw No 480-36 OP SP01
Drw No 480-36 OP SP02

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the details submitted and approved as
part of reserved matters application ref. H02-0448-18.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt.
This Condition is imposed in accordance with Policies 2, 3, 4 and 30 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan, 2019 and national guidance contained in Section 14 of the National
Planning Policy Framework, 2019.

4. Before each dwelling is occupied the roads and/or footways providing access to that dwelling,
for the whole of its frontage from an existing public highway, shall be constructed to a
specification to enable them to be adopted as Public Highway, less the carriageway and
footway surface courses. The carriageway and footway surface courses shall be completed
within three months from the date upon which the erection is commenced of the penultimate
dwelling.

Reason: To ensure that a safe and suitable standard of vehicular and pedestrian access is
provided for residents throughout the construction period of the development and that the roads
and footways are completed within a reasonable period following completion of the dwellings.
This Condition is imposed in accordance with Policy 2 of the South East Lincolnshire Local
Plan, 2019.

5. No dwellings shall be commenced before the first 60 metres of estate road from its junction with
the public highway, including visibility splays has been completed.

Reason: To ensure construction and delivery vehicles, and the vehicles of site personnel may
be parked and/or unloaded off the existing highway, in the interests of highway safety and the
amenity of neighbouring residents.
This Condition is imposed in accordance with Policy 2 of the South East Lincolnshire Local
Plan, 2019.

6. Before any dwelling is occupied, all of that part of the estate road and associated footways that
forms the junction with the main road and which will be constructed within the limits of the
existing highway, shall be laid out and constructed to finished surface levels in accordance with
details to be submitted and approved by the local planning authority.

Reason: In the interests of safety, to avoid the creation of pedestrian trip hazards within the
public highway from surfacing materials, manholes and gullies that may otherwise remain for an
extended period at dissimilar, interim construction levels.
This Condition is imposed in accordance with Policy 2 of the South East Lincolnshire Local
Plan, 2019.

7. The development shall take place in accordance with the surface water drainage scheme
approved as part of condition compliance application ref. H02-1182-18.

Reason: To ensure that the site is adequately drained, to avoid pollution, and to prevent
increased risk of flooding.
This Condition is imposed in accordance with Policies 2, 3 and 30 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan, 2019 and national guidance contained in Section 14 of the National
Planning Policy Framework, 2019.

Page 69



8. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the Remediation
Method Statement approved as part of condition compliance application ref. H02-1182-18.

Reason: To ensure that contaminated land is satisfactorily remediated.
This Condition is imposed in accordance with Policy 30 of the South East Lincolnshire Local
Plan, 2019.

9. The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this application
by assessing it against all material considerations, including national guidance, planning
policies and representations that have been received during the public consultation exercise,
and by identifying matters of concern within the application and negotiating, with the Applicant,
acceptable amendments to the proposal to address those concerns.  As a result, the Local
Planning Authority has been able to grant planning permission for an acceptable proposal.

This decision notice, the relevant accompanying report and the determined plans can be viewed
online at http://planning.sholland.gov.uk/OcellaWeb/planningSearch

10. The developers is advised to note the contents of the letter from Lincolnshire Police dated 2
May 2017.

11. This planning permission is subject to an Agreement under Section 106 of the Town & Country
Planning Act 1990 dated ***** and can only be implemented as a consequence of meeting the
provisions of that Agreement

Background papers:- Planning Application Working File

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Richard Fidler ,  Development Manager
Telephone Number: 01775 764428
Email rfidler@sholland.gov.uk

Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A

Page 70



Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



You can view this application on the Council's web site at
http://planning.sholland.gov.uk/OcellaWeb/planningDetails?reference=H13-0644-19

SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Development Manager

To: Planning Committee - 04 September 2019

(Author: David Gedney -  Senior Planning Officer)

Purpose: To consider Planning Application H13-0644-19

Application Number: H13-0644-19 DDate Received: 26 June 2019

Application Type: S73A CONTINUATION

Description: Barn conversion - approved under H13-0198-16 - Modification of Conditions 2, 5 and
9, relating to amendments to previously approved plans, bricks and tiles, and window
frames, glazing bars and external door frames

Location: Adams Barn Hogs Gate Moulton

Applicant: Mr Philip Adams AAgent: Mr Philip Adams

Ward: Cowbit, Weston and Moulton WWard Councillors: Cllr R Grocock
Cllr A Casson
Cllr A R Woolf

1.0 REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

1.1 The applicant is a SHDC employee.

2.0 PROPOSAL

2.1 Full planning permission was granted for a barn conversion in April 2016 (ref. H13-0198-16).
Permission is now sought to modify the development, including alterations to some of the
openings and external materials to be used. Work has commenced on the scheme.

3.0 SITE DESCRIPTION

3.1 The site (approximately 0.16ha) is a former farm yard located on the eastern side of Hogs Gate.
It is presently occupied by a single barn. Two dilapidated agricultural buildings have been
removed. A house (Drings Farm House) is situated to the south beyond a high hedge.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES

4.1 The Development Plan

If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made
under the Planning Acts, Section 38 (6) to the Town and Country Planning Act as amended by
the 2004 Act states that the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise.

Page 73

Agenda Item 10.



South East Lincolnshire Local Plan, March 2019

Policy 1 - Spatial Strategy;
Policy 2 - Development Management;
Policy 3 - Design of New Development;
Policy 4 - Approach to Flood Risk;
Policy 23 - The Reuse of Buildings in the Countryside for Residential Use;
Policy 28 - The Natural Environment.
Policy 36 - Vehicle and Cycle Parking.

4.2 National Guidance

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), 2019

Section 2 - Achieving Sustainable development;
Section 3 - Plan Making;
Section 4 - Decision Making;
Section 5 - Delivering a Sufficient Supply of Homes;
Section 12 - Achieving Well Designed Places;
Section 14 - Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding and Coastal Change;
Section 15 - Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment;
Section 16 - Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment.

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)

5.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

5.1 H13-0198-16 - Full - Barn conversion, Drings Farm, Hogs Gate, Moulton - Granted 19 April
2019.

5.2 H13-0650-16 - Condition Compliance - Granted 21 October 2016.

6.0 REPRESENTATIONS

6.1 Parish Council

No response received.

6.2 Highways/SUDS

Response awaited.

6.3 Public

No comments received.

7.0 CONSIDERATIONS

7.1 PPlanning Considerations

The main issues in this case are:
- Policy considerations including character/appearance;
- The likely impact upon the amenity of nearby residents;
- Highway issues;
- Other material considerations such as flooding, drainage and ecology.

7.2 Policy Considerations

7.3 Policy 23 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (SELLP), 2019 indicates that proposals for
the conversion of existing buildings which are located outside defined settlement boundaries to

Page 74



residential use will be permitted provided that:
1. the building is structurally sound and capable of conversion without the need for significant
extension, alteration or rebuilding;
2. the building is of architectural or historic merit or makes a positive contribution to the
character of the landscape, to justify conversion to ensure retention;
3. the proposal is in keeping with its surroundings;
4. the design is sympathetic to the character and appearance of the building in terms of
architectural detailing and materials of construction; and
5. development leads to an enhancement of the immediate setting of the building.

7.4 Where permission is granted, Permitted Development Rights may be removed in order to
control future alterations or extensions that may impact on the appearance and character of the
surrounding area.

7.5 Addressing the above, the building is of brick construction. It is mainly structurally sound and is
capable of conversion. The main elements of the building would be retained.

7.6 Moreover, the building is considered to be of architectural/historic merit and is therefore worthy
of retention and conversion. The proposed alterations are sympathetic and would retain and
enhance the buildings agricultural character. This is subject to new fenestration being
constructed in timber, as opposed to uPVC, as normally recommended with barn conversions of
this nature. It should be noted that Class Q allows the conversion of agricultural buildings such
as this as permitted development, albeit with no extensions and a reduced residential curtilage.

7.7 The proposal also complies with Paragraph 79 of the National Planning Policy Framework,
2019, which indicates that planning decisions should avoid new isolated homes in the
countryside, unless there are exceptional circumstances. They include the re-use of redundant
or dis-used buildings where the development would enhance the immediate setting. It is
therefore considered that the proposed development would amount to sustainable development
when applying the Framework as a whole, and as such the balance lies in favour of the
scheme.

7.8 Residential Amenity

7.9 The nearest residential property is a house (Drings Farm House) some 30 metres to the south
of the site. A high hedge is located along the common boundary and no resident objections
have been received. It is considered that the amenity of occupiers of the neighbouring property
would not be materially harmed in terms of overlooking, lack of privacy, noise/disturbance, etc.

7.10 Highway Issues

7.11 An existing entrance would be used to access the site. On site parking would be provided. The
proposal is considered acceptable on highway safety grounds.

7.12 Other Matters

7.13 Flood Risk - The site lies within Flood Zone 1 defined by the Environment Agency Flood Map.
Moreover, the refined flood risk information (Hazard and Depth maps) within the South East
Lincolnshire Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (2017) show the site to be unaffected if a breach
of the flood defence were to occur. Notwithstanding that the sequential test does not technically
need to be applied in respect of a change of use the proposal is satisfactory on flood risk
grounds.

7.14 Drainage - Foul water would be disposed of via a package treatment plant and surface water
via soakaways. This arrangement is considered satisfactory given ground conditions within the
Moulton area.

7.15 Ecology

7.16 The ecology report previously submitted (ref. H13-0650-16) indicated that the building had a lowPage 75



potential for transient or feeding roost for bats and there was no evidence of long term use by
barn owls. It nevertheless recommended enhancement measures. In this respect, the proposal
includes the provision of bat boxes within the detached garage block and pole mounted owl
nesting boxes.

7.17 AAdditional Considerations

7.18 Public Sector Equality Duty

7.19 In making this decision the Authority must have regard to the public sector equality duty (PSED)
under s.149 of the Equalities Act. This means that the Council must have due regard to the
need (in discharging its functions) to:
A. Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited
by the Act
B. Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and
those who do not. This may include removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by persons
who share a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic; taking
steps to meet the special needs of those with a protected characteristic; encouraging
participation in public life (or other areas where they are underrepresented) of people with a
protected characteristic(s).
C. Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who
do not including tackling prejudice and promoting understanding.

7.20 The protected characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

7.21 The PSED must be considered as a relevant factor in making this decision but does not impose
a duty to achieve the outcomes in s.149. It is only one factor that needs to be considered, and
may be balanced against other relevant factors.

7.22 It is not considered that the recommendation in this case will have a disproportionately adverse
impact on a protected characteristic.

7.23 Human Rights

7.24 In making a decision, the Authority should be aware of and take into account any implications
that may arise from the Human Rights Act 1998. Under the Act, it is unlawful for a public
authority such as South Holland District Council to act in a manner that is incompatible with the
European Convention on Human Rights. The Authority is referred specifically to Article 8 (right
to respect for private and family life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol (protection of property).

7.25 It is not considered that the recommendation in this case interferes with local residents' right to
respect for their private and family life, home and correspondence, except insofar as it is
necessary to protect the rights and freedoms of others (in this case, the rights of the applicant).
The Council is also permitted to control the use of property in accordance with the general
public interest and the recommendation is considered to be a proportionate response to the
submitted application based on the considerations set out in this report.

7.26 Conclusion

7.27 The proposal accords with Policy 23 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2019). It would
not materially harm the rural character of the area. Moreover, the development would not have
a material effect upon the amenity of nearby residents. No objections are raised on highway
safety or other planning grounds.

8.0 RECOMMENDATIONS

8.1 Grant planning permission subject to the conditions listed within Section 9.0 of this report.

Page 76



99.0 CONDITIONS

1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
approved plans:
2893-15-03C;
2893-15-04A;
2893-15-10A.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

2. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 2015, (or any Order or Statutory Instrument revoking and re-enacting that
Order), none of the following developments or alterations shall be carried out other than those
shown on the approved plans:
i) the erection of freestanding curtilage buildings or structures including car ports, garages,
sheds, greenhouses, pergolas or raised decks;
ii) the erection of extensions including dormer windows, conservatories, garages, car ports,
porches or pergolas;
iii) alterations including the installation of replacement or additional windows or doors and the
installation of roof windows.

Reason: To ensure that the Local Planning Authority retains control over the future extension
and alteration of the development, in the interests of its architectural and visual integrity and the
visual amenity and character of the area within which it is set.
This Condition is imposed in accordance with Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire
Local Plan, 2019.

3. Works of demolition/reconstruction or replacement of the existing fabric of the building shall be
undertaken in accordance with details accompanying condition compliance application ref. H13-
0650-16 unless agreed otherwise by virtue of this permission.

Reason: Planning permission is only granted for conversion of the existing buildings by virtue of
the architectural and historic quality of the buildings. Significant alteration and reconstruction
would be tantamount to the erection of a new dwelling in the open countryside which would be
contrary to Policies 1 and 23 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan, 2019
This Condition is imposed in accordance with Policies 1 and 23 of the South East Lincolnshire
Local Plan, 2019

4. All new and replacement brickwork utilised in carrying out the development hereby permitted
shall match as closely as possible that of the existing building in terms of the type of brick,
mortar mix and method of bonding.

Reason: In the interests of the architectural and visual integrity of the overall development and
the visual amenity of the area in which it is set.
This Condition is imposed in accordance with Policies 2, 3 and 23 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan, 2019.

5. All new roofing materials shall be in accordance with details shown on dwg. no. 2893-15-10A
accompanying the application.

Note: For the avoidance of doubt the approved roofing material for the new extension/lean-to
and outbuilding/garage block shall be natural terracotta roof tiles.

Reason:  In the interests of the architectural and visual integrity of the overall development and
the visual amenity of the area in which it is set.
This Condition is imposed in accordance with Policies 2, 3 and 23 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan, 2019.

Page 77



6. The approved scheme of landscaping/planting accompanying condition compliance application
ref. H13-0650-16 shall be carried out and completed in its entirety during the first planting
season following practical completion of the development.  All trees, shrubs and bushes shall
be maintained by the owner or owners of the land on which they are situated for the period of
five years beginning with the date of completion of the scheme and during that period all losses
shall be made good as and when necessary.

Reason: To ensure that the development is adequately landscaped, in the interests of its visual
amenity and that of the area in which it is set.
This Condition is imposed in accordance with Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire
Local Plan, 2019.

7. All window frames shall be installed in accordance with the approved details accompanying
condition compliance application ref. H13-0650-16 unless agreed otherwise by virtue of this
permission.

Reason: In the interests of the character and appearance of the development and the visual
amenity of the area in which it is set.
This Condition is imposed in accordance with Policies 2, 3 and 23 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan, 2019.

8. Notwithstanding the details accompanying this application all new window frames, glazing bars
and external door frames shall be of timber construction and thereafter so maintained.

Reason: In the interests of the architectural composition and appearance of the development
and the visual amenity of the area in which it is set.
This Condition is imposed in accordance with Policies 2, 3 and 23 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan, 2019.

9. All external doors used in the development shall be constructed in timber and shall be installed
in accordance with the approved details accompanying condition compliance application ref.
H13-0650-16 unless agreed otherwise by virtue of this permission.

Reason: In the interests of the character and appearance of the development and the visual
amenity of the area in which it is set.
This Condition is imposed in accordance with Policies 2, 3 and 23 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan, 2019.

10. The existing timber door on the eastern elevation shall be retained and pinned back.

Reason: To retain the traditional character/appearance of the building, in the interest of the
visual amenities of the rural area in which it is set.
This Condition is imposed in accordance with Policies 2, 3 and 23 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan, 2019.

11. The proposed roof lights shall be installed in accordance with the approved details
accompanying condition compliance application ref. H13-0650-16 unless agreed otherwise by
virtue of this permission.

Reason: In the interests of the character and appearance of the development and the visual
amenity of the area in which it is set.
This Condition is imposed in accordance with Policies 2, 3 and 23 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan, 2019.

12. The rainwater goods utilised in the development hereby permitted shall be installed in
accordance with the approved details accompanying condition compliance application ref. H13-
0650-16 unless agreed otherwise by virtue of this permission.

Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the visual amenity of the
area in which it is set.
This Condition is imposed in accordance with Policies 2, 3 and 23 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan, 2019.

Page 78



13. The guttering to the development hereby permitted shall be fixed to the external walls by means
of gutter spikes/rise and fall brackets and no fascia boarding shall be used.

Reason: In the interests of the architectural composition and appearance of the development
and the visual amenity of the area in which it is set.
This Condition is imposed in accordance with Policies 2, 3 and 23 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan, 2019.

14. Eaves detailing shall be in accordance with the approved details accompanying condition
compliance application ref. H13-0650-16 unless agreed otherwise by virtue of this permission.

Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the visual amenity of the
area in which it is set.
This Condition is imposed in accordance with Policies 2, 3 and 23 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan, 2019.

15. No external boxes for gas and electricity supplies shall be installed on the western elevation of
the converted building or associated new garage block.

Reason: In the interests of the architectural and visual integrity of the development.
This Condition is imposed in accordance with Policies 2, 3 and 23 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan, 2019.

16. Prior to occupation of the dwelling pole mounted barn owl boxes shall be installed on site in
accordance with details shown on dwg. no. 2893-15-03C accompanying the application. They
shall thereafter be retained on site and be permanently made available for their proposed use.

Reason: In the interest of nature conservation and because owls are a protected species.
This Condition is imposed in accordance with national guidance contained in Section 15 of the
National Planning Policy Framework, 2012.

17. Prior to completion of the garage block bat roosting units shall be installed in accordance with
details shown on dwg. no. 2893-15-03C accompanying the application. They shall thereafter be
retained on site and be permanently made available for their proposed use.

Reason: In the interest of nature conservation and because bats are a protected species.
This Condition is imposed in accordance with national guidance contained in Section 15 of the
National Planning Policy Framework, 2012.

18. The water consumption of the dwelling hereby permitted should not exceed the requirement of
110 litres per person per day (as set out as the optional requirement in Part G of the Building
Regulations 2010 and the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan, 2019). The person carrying out
the work must inform the Building Control Body that this duty applies. A notice confirming the
requirement for the water consumption has been met shall be submitted to the Building Control
Body and Local Planning Authority, no later than five days after the completion of the dwelling.

Reason: To protect the quality and quantity of water resources available to the district.
This condition is imposed in accordance with Policy 31 of the South East Lincolnshire Local
Plan, 2019.

19. Note: The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this
application by assessing it against all material considerations, including national guidance,
planning policies and representations that have been received during the public consultation
exercise, and subsequently determining to grant planning permission.

This decision notice, the relevant accompanying report and the determined plans can be viewed
online at http://planning.sholland.gov.uk/OcellaWeb/planningSearch

Background papers:- Planning Application Working File

Lead Contact Officer Page 79



Name and Post: Richard Fidler ,  Development Manager
Telephone Number: 01775 764428
Email rfidler@sholland.gov.uk

AAppendices attached to this report:
Appendix A

Page 80



Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



You can view this application on the Council's web site at
http://planning.sholland.gov.uk/OcellaWeb/planningDetails?reference=H02-0493-19

SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Development Manager

To: Planning Committee - 04 September 2019

(Author: Polly Harris-Gorf -  Principal Planning Officer)

Purpose: To consider Planning Application H02-0493-19

Application Number: H02-0493-19 DDate Received: 14 May 2019

Application Type: FULL

Description: Construction of two further phases of industrial buildings for sub-division into small
units

Location: Pinnacle Close Crease Drove Crowland

Applicant: South Holland District Council AAgent: South Holland District Council

Ward: Crowland and Deeping WWard Councillors: Cllr B Alcock
Cllr J R Astill
Cllr N H Pepper

1.0 REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

1.1 South Holland District Council are land owner and applicant for this development.

2.0 PROPOSAL

2.1 This is a full application for the construction of two further phases of industrial buildings for sub-
division into small units. The proposal is for three separate blocks of single storey industrial
buildings (B1, B2, B8 Use Classes), respectively of 330 m2, 578 m2 and 578 m2, totalling 1486
m2, on a site of about 0.296 ha.

2.2 The scheme completes an earlier development by the Council, built in 2010, known as Pinnacle
Close. This new scheme provides the smaller building on residual land at Pinnacle Close, and
the two larger buildings on the continuation of the site with access from Phoenix Lane.

2.3 The proposals are set within the provisions of the design brief for the site, specifically

(a) Steel portal frame
(b) Minimum 5.6m eaves
(c) Fully clad units to all elevations and roof including 10% roof lights
(d) Access via 3m wide x 4.5m high electric loading door
(e) All windows and doors to be in aluminium powder coated units
(f) Small office to be constructed inside each unit
(g) Immediately behind the office, a disabled toilet
(h) Warehouse to include 3 phase power to single junction box and LED lighting.

Page 83

Agenda Item 11.



2.4 The application is accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment, which has been updated since
original submission.

33.0 SITE DESCRIPTION

3.1 The application site lies within a Major Employment Area and is identified as a Major
Employment Proposal. The land is within defined Flood Zone 3a (High Probability) i.e. land
assessed as having a 1 in 100 or greater annual probability of river flooding or a 1 in 200 or
greater annual probability of flooding from the sea.

3.2 The surrounding landscape to the south and west is flat, open, high grade agricultural land. The
landscape to the north and east includes industrial buildings and more recent residential
development stretching away towards to A16 trunk road to the east.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES

4.1 The Development Plan

4.2 South East Lincolnshire Local Plan, March 2019

02 Development Management
03 Design of New Development
04 Approach to Flood Risk
05 Meeting Physical Infrastructure and Service Needs
07 Improving S E Lincolnshire's Employment Land Portfolio
28 The Natural Environment
30 Pollution
31 Climate Change and Renewable and Low Carbon Energy
32 Community, Health and Well-being
33 Delivering a More Sustainable Transport Network
36 Vehicle and Cycle Parking
APPENDIX 6 Parking Standards

4.3 If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made
under the Planning Acts, Section 38 (6) to the Town and Country Planning Act as amended by
the 2004 Act states that the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise.

4.4 National Guidance

4.5 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), 2019

2. Achieving sustainable development
4. Decision-making
6. Building a strong, competitive economy
9. Promoting sustainable transport
11. Making effective use of land
12. Achieving well-designed places
14. Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change

4.6 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)

5.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

5.1 H02-0610-09. Erect one industrial unit and site one moveable storage container. Approved. 06-
11-09.

5.2 H02-0031-10. Erect industrial unit and siting of movable storage container - approved under
H02-0610-09. Non-material amendment to add window to south west elevation, alter site
approach/entrance, gravel hardstanding instead of macadam paving. Approved 27-01-10.Page 84



5.3 H02-0440-09 Erection of seven industrial units and associated works. Approved 10-08-09.

5.4 H02-0524-10. Erection of 7 industrial units and associated works - approved under H02-0440-
09. Amendments to surface material in storage areas and window to be added to Unit 1 at first
floor level. Approved 06-07-10.

5.5 H02-1034-18. Proposed portal frame building (B1, B2 and B8), comprising 3 self-contained
units (industrial). Approved 03-12-18.

66.0 REPRESENTATIONS

6.1 Crowland Parish Council

Welcome the development - it will provide job opportunities in an established industrial area.

6.2 LCC Highways & SUDS Support

No observations.

6.3 LCC  Historic Environment Officer

No further archaeological input is recommended.

6.4 SHDC Environmental Protection

No objection.

6.5 SHDC Economic & Community Development

The Inward Investment Team are fully supportive of this application. It completes the scheme
that was started in 2009 and has run successfully ever since. It will provide additional quality,
affordable and accessible units for a variety of uses and will benefit both local businesses
looking to make the next steps in their growth plans, and will also help to attract Inward
Investment into the district.
This application will make a valuable contribution to the Council's ambition of supporting the
local economy.

6.6 Environment Agency

Objected to the original application as the flood risk assessment did not comply with current
practice guidance. As a result a revised flood risk assessment was commissioned and the
Environment Agency reconsulted. At the time of writing the EA response is awaited.

6.7 Anglian Water

The foul drainage from this development is in the catchment of Crowland Water Recycling
Centre which has sufficient capacity for this development.

6.8 No objections subject to informatives.

6.9 Police Crime Prevention Design Advisor

No objection.

7.0 CONSIDERATIONS

7.1 PPlanning Considerations

Page 85



7.2 Principle of Development

7.3 The site is specifically allocated within the South East Lincs Local Plan (SELLP) as a Major
Employment Area and is identified as a Major Employment Proposal.

B1 (office, light industry, research and development), B2 (general industry), B8 (warehousing
and storage) Use Classes are considered to be acceptable and  would accord with planning
policy for the area. A condition is recommended to ensure these uses.

7.4 Impact of Development

7.5 In terms of scale, the site is capable of accommodating the proposed building and, given that
materials would match existing buildings in the vicinity and it is an existing employment area, it
is not considered that it would have an adverse impact on the character and appearance of the
area.

7.6 LCC Historic Environment Officer has commented that there would be no archaeological
impact.

7.7 Subject to conditions securing the retention of the parking for the site, it is considered that this
proposal is acceptable and will be a welcome addition to the stock of smaller industrial units in
the District.

7.8 Flood Risk

7.9 The location of the site within land designated as Flood Zone 3a has been taken in to account,
and it is considered that the development would be acceptable in this location, as it does not
proposed a sensitive use such as residential accommodation.

7.10 At the time of writing the confirmation of the Environment Agency is awaited.

7.11 AAdditional Considerations

7.12 Public Sector Equality Duty

7.13 In making this decision the Authority must have regard to the public sector equality duty (PSED)
under s.149 of the Equalities Act. This means that the Council must have due regard to the
need (in discharging its functions) to:
A. Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited
by the Act
B. Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and
those who do not. This may include removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by persons
who share a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic; taking
steps to meet the special needs of those with a protected characteristic; encouraging
participation in public life (or other areas where they are underrepresented) of people with a
protected characteristic(s).
C. Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who
do not including tackling prejudice and promoting understanding.

7.14 The protected characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

7.15 The PSED must be considered as a relevant factor in making this decision but does not impose
a duty to achieve the outcomes in s.149. It is only one factor that needs to be considered, and
may be balanced against other relevant factors.

7.16 It is not considered that the recommendation to grant permission in this case will have a
disproportionately adverse impact on a protected characteristic.

Page 86



7.17 Human Rights

7.18 In making a decision, the Authority should be aware of and take into account any implications
that may arise from the Human Rights Act 1998. Under the Act, it is unlawful for a public
authority such as South Holland District Council to act in a manner that is incompatible with the
European Convention on Human Rights. The Authority is referred specifically to Article 8 (right
to respect for private and family life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol (protection of property).

7.19 It is not considered that the recommendation to grant permission in this case interferes with
local residents' right to respect for their private and family life, home and correspondence,
except insofar as it is necessary to protect the rights and freedoms of others (in this case, the
rights of the applicant). The Council is also permitted to control the use of property in
accordance with the general public interest and the recommendation to grant permission is
considered to be a proportionate response to the submitted application based on the
considerations set out in this report.

8.0 RECOMMENDATIONS

8.1   Grant planning permission, is granted subject to the conditions listed in Section 9.0 of this
report and subject to no objection being received from the Environment Agency, together with
any additional conditions recommended by the Environment Agency.

9.0 CONDITIONS

1. The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning with the
date of this permission.

Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
approved plans and documents:
Application form
P011
P012
P100 Block C
P101 Block D
P102 Block E
P015 Key Plan
P010
P001
P002
DESIGN AND ACCESS STATEMENT V01 5th July 2018
Flood risk assessment

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3. The industrial buildings hereby approved shall be restricted to B1, B2, B8 Use Classes, as
described by the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended).

Reason: In order to accord with Policy 7 of the South East Lincs Local Plan 2019.

4. The arrangements shown on dwg. no. P010 forming part of this application for the
parking/turning/loading/unloading of vehicles shall be available at all times when the premises
are in use.

Reason:To ensure that adequate facilities for vehicles are provided in the interests of highway
safety.
This Condition is imposed in accordance with Polies 2, 3 and 36 of the South East Lincs Local
Plan 2019.

Page 87



5. Details of the external illumination of all buildings and areas of the site including details of
luminance and fields of illumination shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority prior to the first use of those buildings and areas and there shall be no
external illumination other than that so approved.

Reason:To ensure that the Local Planning Authority retains control over these matters, in the
interests of the visual amenity of the overall development, to prevent light pollution and to
ensure that the development is adequately lit.
This Condition is imposed in accordance with Policies SG1 and SG17 of the South Holland
Local Plan 2006.

6. No storage of materials, machinery, vehicles, waste or other items shall take place outside the
buildingss on the site except within the designated areas indicated on without the prior written
consent of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason:In the interests of the appearance of the development and the visual amenity of the
area in which it is set.
This Condition is imposed in accordance with Policy SG14 of the South Holland Local Plan
2006.

7. Prior to the commencement of the first use of the development hereby permitted the bars for
cycle use shall be provided.

Reason:To ensure that adequate secure facilities are provided for cyclists using the site.
This Condition is imposed in accordance with Policy SG15 of the South Holland Local Plan
2006.

8. The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this application
by assessing it against all material considerations, including national guidance, planning
policies and representations that have been received during the public consultation exercise,
and by identifying matters of concern within the application and negotiating, with the Applicant,
acceptable amendments to the proposal to address those concerns.  As a result, the Local
Planning Authority has been able to grant planning permission for an acceptable proposal.

This decision notice, the relevant accompanying report and the determined plans can be viewed
online at http://planning.sholland.gov.uk/OcellaWeb/planningSearch

Background papers:- Planning Application Working File

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Richard Fidler ,  Development Manager
Telephone Number: 01775 764428
Email rfidler@sholland.gov.uk

Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A

Page 88



Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



You can view this application on the Council's web site at
http://planning.sholland.gov.uk/OcellaWeb/planningDetails?reference=H04-0641-19

SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Development Manager

To: Planning Committee - 04 September 2019

(Author: Greg Watkinson -  Planning Conservation Officer)

Purpose: To consider Planning Application H04-0641-19

Application Number: H04-0641-19 DDate Received: 26 June 2019

Application Type: FULL

Description: Renovation and alteration to retail/residential premises

Location: 15-16 Market Place Donington Spalding

Applicant: Mr H Bingham AAgent: Cooper Architectural Design

Ward: Donington, Quadring and
Gosberton

Ward Councillors: Cllr H J W Bingham
Cllr S C Walsh
Cllr J L King

1.0 REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

1.1 The applicant is a District Councillor.

2.0 PROPOSAL

2.1 The proposal is for the renovation and alteration to a residential/retail premises. The works to
include fitting of new timber and UPVC windows and removal of existing rear windows to be
replaced with 'Conservation Style' roof lights. Additionally, the current doorway to be sealed,
and a new entranceway placed to the rear of the property which proposes to re-use the current
door.

2.2 Alterations to the interior of the property include the removal of the interior chimney breast,
removal of some 1st floor interior walls to create an open plan kitchen / living room and the
repair of the staircase.

2.3 The retail space to be re-plastered and the false ceiling and wall linings to be removed

3.0 SITE DESCRIPTION

3.1 15-16 Market Place is a 19th Century terraced property featuring a characterful arched access
from front to rear of the property.The property is terraced to the west with the Grade II listed
building, 14 Market Street.

3.2 Additionally, it is within eyeshot of several further nearby grade II listed buildings. The site holds
a prominent street frontage position at the centre of Donington, on the north side of the Market

Page 91

Agenda Item 12.



Place - a key location in the Donington Conservation area.

44.0 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES

4.1 The Development Plan

4.2 South East Lincolnshire Local Plan, March 2019

Policy 1 - Spatial Strategy
Policy 2 - Development Management
Policy 3 -  Design of New Development
Policy 24 - The Retail Hierarchy
Policy 26 - Primary Shopping frontages
Policy 29 - The Historic Environment

4.3 If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made
under the Planning Acts, Section 38 (6) to the Town and Country Planning Act as amended by
the 2004 Act states that the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise.

4.4 National Guidance

4.5 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), 2019

4. Decision Making
7. Ensuring the Vitality of Town Centres
12. Achieving Well-Designed Places
16. Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment

4.6 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)

5.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

5.1 None.

6.0 REPRESENTATIONS

6.1 Ward Councillor

6.2 Cllr J King - The proposed works are sympathetic to the Donington Conservation Area.

7.0 CONSIDERATIONS

7.1 PPlanning Considerations

7.2 Design and Layout

7.3 The proposed works would impact upon the external design by re-introducing period style sash
windows to the front elevation, the replacement of the side-entrance visible through the arched
access-way with a 900 x 450 U.P.V.C window and the removal of both of the rear 1st floor
windows, to be replaced with two 'Conservation Style' roof windows in the roof immediately
above the original window positions.

7.4 The layout of the interior will change with the creation of an upstairs open plan kitchen / living
room.

Page 92



7.5 Heritage Impact

7.6 The property sits within the Donington Conservation Area in the prominent Market Place part of
the village. Additionally, it is adjoined at its West side to the Grade II listed building, 14 Market
Place and is within close proximity to 2 further grade II listed buildings, those being 1a 'St
Hellier' Market Place and 18 Market Place.

7.7 The proposed works to the exterior of the building are largely in-keeping with the original style
of the property and the Conservation area. The replacement windows on the 1st floor frontage
are proposed to be vertical sliding sash style windows (which are replacing the current timber
top light style windows) and are therefore more original to the design of the property and
consistent with the Conservation Area than the windows they propose to replace. The roof
windows avoid significant impact upon the Conservation Area by being to the rear of the
property, meaning they are not visible from the street.

7.8 The proposed internal alterations include no intensive or intrusive works to the western walls of
the property which is shared with the Grade II listed building, 14 Market Street.

7.9 For the above reasons, the proposals sufficiently avoid impacting significantly upon either the
Donington Conservation Area, or the nearby Grade II listed buildings, including the adjoining, 14
Market Street and actually enhance the qualities of the Donington Conservation Area

7.10 Retail Impact

7.11 The ground floor of the property is designated as retail use. It is not proposed that this changes
and the proposals do not include any diminishment of the size or significance of that retail
space.

7.12 Residential Amenity

7.13 Whilst the proposed new rear roof windows will be in a position to overlook the neighbouring
properties' back gardens, this is no change to the current arrangement as the property is
terraced and the roof windows will be replacing two conventional windows at the rear of the
property which are similarly positioned to overlook neighbouring properties.

7.14 Vehicle Parking

7.15 The property has vehicle parking to the rear which is accessible via the arched access-way.
This is not proposed to change.

7.16 AAdditional Considerations

7.17 Public Sector Equality Duty

7.18 In making this decision the Authority must have regard to the public sector equality duty (PSED)
under s.149 of the Equalities Act. This means that the Council must have due regard to the
need (in discharging its functions) to:
A. Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited
by the Act
B. Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and
those who do not. This may include removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by persons
who share a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic; taking
steps to meet the special needs of those with a protected characteristic; encouraging
participation in public life (or other areas where they are underrepresented) of people with a
protected characteristic(s).
C. Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who
do not including tackling prejudice and promoting understanding.

7.19 The protected characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and
Page 93



maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

7.20 The PSED must be considered as a relevant factor in making this decision but does not impose
a duty to achieve the outcomes in s.149. It is only one factor that needs to be considered, and
may be balanced against other relevant factors.

7.21 It is not considered that the recommendation in this case will have a disproportionately adverse
impact on a protected characteristic.

7.22 Human Rights

7.23 In making a decision, the Authority should be aware of and take into account any implications
that may arise from the Human Rights Act 1998. Under the Act, it is unlawful for a public
authority such as South Holland District Council to act in a manner that is incompatible with the
European Convention on Human Rights. The Authority is referred specifically to Article 8 (right
to respect for private and family life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol (protection of property).

7.24 It is not considered that the recommendation in this case interferes with local residents' right to
respect for their private and family life, home and correspondence, except insofar as it is
necessary to protect the rights and freedoms of others (in this case, the rights of the applicant).
The Council is also permitted to control the use of property in accordance with the general
public interest and the recommendation is considered to be a proportionate response to the
submitted application based on the considerations set out in this report.

8.0 RECOMMENDATIONS

8.1 GGrant planning permission subject to the conditions listed in Section 9.0 of this report.

9.0 CONDITIONS

1. The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning with the
date of this permission.

Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
approved plans and documents:
Application Form
DRw 1902-01
DRw 1902-02
DRw 1902-03

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3. The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this application
by assessing it against all material considerations, including national guidance, planning
policies and representations that have been received during the public consultation exercise,
and subsequently determining to grant planning permission.

This decision notice, the relevant accompanying report and the determined plans can be viewed
online at http://planning.sholland.gov.uk/OcellaWeb/planningSearch

Background papers:- Planning Application Working File

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Richard Fidler ,  Development ManagerPage 94



Telephone Number: 01775 764428
Email rfidler@sholland.gov.uk

AAppendices attached to this report:
Appendix A

Page 95



Page 96



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of:

To:

Author:

Subject:

Purpose:

Development Manager

Planning Committee

Richard Fidler

Planning Appeals

To provide an update on recent Appeal Decisions

Recommendation

a) That the contents of this report be noted

1.0

1.1

OVERVIEW

Since the last report 4 appeal decision(s) have been received, the results are as follows:

Appeals Dismissed:

Appeals Allowed:

Appeals Part Allowed:

3

1

0

1.2 Since the 1st April 2017 99 planning appeal decisions have been received of which 72 have been
dismissed, which equates to a success rate of 72.72%

2.0 PPLANNING APPEALS DISMISSED

H18-0450-18 Mr & Mrs D Moore - David Grant

Land Adjacent: Fenland Lodge King John Bank APP/A2525/W/18/3215631
Proposed residential dwelling Decision Date:

06 August    2019
The Inspector concluded that the proposal would create an isolated home in the countryside,
would fail to meet the Exception Test in terms of flood risk, and would be contrary to the NPPF in
this regard.

H16-0377-18 Mr Alan Bentley - Sense - Mark Simmonds

Sense Charity Shop 3-7 Station Street APP/A2525/W/18/3216194
Replacement windows (retrospective) Decision Date:

09 August    2019
The Inspector considered that the attractiveness and viability of the Conservation Area is
determined by its distinctive and traditional details and that the loss of such elements can cause
more serious harm to the future viability of historic places. Therefore, although some limited
weight can be attributed to the need for increased energy efficiency, reduced noise and air
pollution for occupiers of the shop, the Inspector concluded this does not outweigh the serious
harm identified whereby the character and appearance of the Spalding Conservation Area will be
eroded through further cumulative loss of historic details.Page 97

Agenda Item 13.



H09-0250-18 Naylor Farms - Dave Gedney

Land Off Battlefields Lane North Holbeach APP/A2525/W/18/3218958
Residential development - for up to 12 dwellings Decision Date:

16 August    2019
The Inspector concluded the proposal would be in an inappropriate location beyond the settlement
boundary for Holbeach which, whilst not isolated, would nonetheless be subject to the significant
physical and psychological barrier to movement (and ease of movement) presented by the A17
corridor. Furthermore, due to the relationship of the site to Holbeach, the A17 and the group of
houses on Battlefields Lane North and Washway Road, the proposal would result in a harmfully
urbanising form of development at odds with the rural character of the surrounding area. There
are no material considerations of sufficiently positive weight to outweigh the harm that would arise
from the inappropriate location of the proposal, the effect that it would have on the character of the
surrounding area and in terms of flood risk.

3.0 PPLANNING APPEALS ALLOWED

H09-0798-18 Exec of the Late D Bailey - Dave Gedney

Adjacent: Rosemead Stoton's Gate APP/A2525/W/19/3223469
Proposed conversion of barn to dwelling Decision Date: 

07 August   2019 
The Inspector acknowledged that the road is not in a good state of repair. However, he was of the
view that the state of the road is more of an
inconvenience rather than a significant highway safety concern. Furthermore, the ongoing
maintenance of the public highway is not a matter which persuaded him that planning permission
should not be granted. The Inspector therefore concluded that Stoton¿s Gate would provide a
suitable access to the new dwelling and the  proposal would accord with Policy 2 of the SELLP
which amongst other matters seek to ensure that proposals are sustainable development
(including access and vehicle generation levels). It would also accord with the overarching aims of
the NPPF which indicates that development should only be prevented or refused on highway
grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative
impacts on the road network would be severe.

4.0 EENFORCEMENT APPEALS DISMISSED

None

5.0 EENFORCEMENT APPEALS UPHELD

None

Background Papers - Planning Application and Enforcement Working Files

Lead Contact Officer
Richard Fidler; Development Manager
01775 764428
rfidler@sholland.gov.uk

Page 98


	Agenda
	2. Minutes
	5. H06-0233-19
	6. H16-0930-18
	7. H16-1267-18
	8. H11-0936-18
	9. H02-0075-19
	10. H13-0644-19
	11. H02-0493-19
	12. H04-0641-19
	13. Planning Appeals

